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OUR PURPOSE AND FUNCTION
The Competition Commission of South Africa was established in terms of the Competition
Act (Act No. 89 of 1998), as amended (the Act). Its purpose is to promote and maintain
competition in South Africa in order to:
• promote the efficiency, adaptability and development of the economy
• provide consumers with competitive prices and product choices
• promote employment and advance the social and economic welfare of South Africans
• expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets and recognise
the role of foreign competition in the Republic
• ensure that small and medium sized enterprises have an equitable opportunity to
participate in the economy
• promote a greater spread of ownership, in particular to increase the ownership stakes
of historically disadvantaged persons
In achieving its purpose, set out above, the Commission’s functions are to:
• implement measures to increase market transparency
• implement measures to develop public awareness of the provisions of the Act
• investigate and evaluate alleged anti-competitive conduct
• grant or refuse applications for exemption from the application of the Act
• authorise, with or without conditions, prohibit or refer mergers of which it receives
notice
• negotiate and conclude consent orders
• refer matters to the Competition Tribunal of South Africa (Tribunal), and appear before
the Tribunal when required
• negotiate agreements with any regulatory authority to coordinate and harmonise the
exercise of jurisdiction over competition matters within the relevant industry or sector,
and to ensure the consistent application of the principles of the Act
• participate in the proceedings of any regulatory authority
• advise, and receive advice from, any regulatory authority
• over time, review legislation and public regulations, and report to the Minister
concerning any provision that permits uncompetitive behaviour
• deal with any other matter referred to it by the Tribunal
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COMMISSIONER’S OVERVIEW
Towards better enforcement
Competition related issues continued
to occupy a prominent place in public
discussion over the past year. This
was not only due to the cases that
the competition authorities brought
to light. Civil society is increasingly
engaging with competition matters and
participating in the proceedings of the
competition authorities. There is greater awareness of the
impact of anticompetitive practices on consumers. Business
is also well aware of their responsibilities to comply with
competition law or face consequences. We have benefitted
greatly from our interactions with government departments,
consumer organisations, trade unions, legal practitioners,
academics, and international bodies in informing our
priorities, deepening debate on the policy outcomes of
enforcement, and strengthening our efforts in promoting a
culture of compliance.
This year the Commission continued its focus on
enforcement in line with our strategic objectives set
three years ago. The Commission proactively initiated
investigations in its priority sectors and levied penalties
totaling a record of R331 million. In addition, the Commission,
for the first time, laid criminal charges against individuals
who attempted to frustrate its processes by providing false
information or failing to appear on a summons.
Our focus on priority sectors is evident in the various cases
in progress during this year. In the construction sector, the
Commission initiated investigations in a number of product
markets which potentially raise the cost of infrastructure
projects. These include steel products, wire, bricks,
building aggregates and cement. Our intervention in this
sector is significant in the context of government spending

2

Competition Commission South Africa - Annual Report 2008/09

commitments to infrastructure development over the next
three years. Two of the four mergers prohibited this year
were in markets for infrastructure inputs, namely asphalt and
steel reinforcing products. In addition, cartels operating in the
markets for concrete pipes and plastic pipes were referred
to the Tribunal for prosecution. Aveng Africa settled with the
Commission over its involvement in the concrete pipes cartel
with a fine of R46 million.
Our success in uncovering cartels has been boosted by
better use of our corporate leniency policy (CLP) which
provides immunity from prosecution for the first firm to
provide the Commission with information on cartel activity.
CLP applications have led to the expeditious settlement of
cases as evidenced by Tiger Brands agreeing to a penalty
of R53.5 million for the involvement of its subsidiary, Adcock
Ingram, in a pharmaceutical cartel. In May 2008 we revised
the CLP following an evaluation we had undertaken in the
previous year. The revision provides greater certainty on
how to qualify for CLP and introduces a marker system
which allows applicants to reserve a place in the queue of
applications.
There has been widespread public concern over escalating
food prices in the last year and the Commission has
participated in public discussion and debate over this issue.
Our cases in the food sector are in different product markets
(bread, milling, poultry and fish), variously at different levels
of the value chain (producers, processors and retailers). We
reached a settlement in the bread cartel case, with Foodcorp
agreeing to pay a fine of R45 million, and proceeded to
prosecute the remaining member of the cartel, Pioneer
Foods. Our prosecution of the milk cartel has yet to be
heard on the merits and has been stalled due to a number of
interlocutory applications before the Competition Tribunal and
Competition Appeal Court.

A welcomed development this year was the consent
agreement reached with the American Natural Soda Ash
Corporation (Ansac), a cartel exporting soda ash from
the United States of America, bringing to an end almost
10 years of protracted litigation. This case generated six
Competition Tribunal decisions, three Competition Appeal
Court judgments, one Supreme Court of Appeal judgment
and an application to the Constitutional Court was rejected.
In the consent agreement Ansac admits to contravening
the Competition Act and agreed to a penalty of R9.7 million.
Ansac also agreed to allow its individual members to supply
South African customers directly, thus opening the market to
competition.
The Banking Enquiry completed its work in this financial
year and its Technical Report was released in December
2008. The enquiry made recommendations on access to the
national payment system, ATM fees, interchange fees and
penalty fees. The implementation of these recommendations
will require regulatory changes and will be considered by
an intergovernmental committee comprising representation
from the Competition Commission, National Treasury, the SA
Reserve Bank and the Department of Trade and Industry.
Merger activity declined this year due to a global economic
slowdown. Although merger notifications decreased to 414,
from 513 in the previous year, the Commission’s workload
remained unnecessarily high considering that 402 of these
mergers were approved, and only four were prohibited and
eight approved with conditions. Due to the large number
of unproblematic mergers that are notified, the Minister of
Trade and Industry raised the thresholds for the notification of
mergers effective from 1 April 2009. We consequently expect
a further decrease in merger notifications. The Commission
will however exercise its power to require the notification of
small mergers, which is not compulsory, if it deems that such
mergers may lessen competition.

In the next year the Commission expects to continue on its
trajectory of enforcement activity. We expect a significant
increase in our workload and will address capacity
constraints by expanding our staff, improving our knowledge
management systems, and strengthening staff development
practices. The capacity for coordination, monitoring and
supervision in the Commissioner’s office, has significantly
increased with the appointment of Tembinkosi Bonakele as
the Deputy Commissioner on 1 November 2008.
The staff of the Commission has risen to the challenges
facing the organisation, always professional, constructive
and patient in an often adversarial environment. It is an
affirming acknowledgement that the Commission won the
2008 Deloitte Best Company to Work For award in the public
sector category. I thank the Commission’s staff for their
tireless commitment to this organisation and its work.

Seated: Johan Dreyer, Shan Ramburuth
and Tembinkosi Bonakele
Standing: Mmboswobeni Nkhumeleni, Malefyane Mogale,
Sesule Mojapelo, Tania Govender, Anisa Kessery
and Mulalo Ratshisusu
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Shan Ramburuth
Commissioner
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Tembinkosi Bonakele
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Nellie Pillay
Chief Financial Officer and
Manager: Corporate Services

Simon Roberts
Chief Economist and
Manager: Policy and Research

Johan Dreyer
Company Secretary

Nandi Mokoena
Manager: Strategy and
Stakeholder Relations

Keith Weeks
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Manager: Legal Services
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PART 1: PRIORITY SECTORS
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Infrastructure and construction
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Infrastructure and construction
The Commission prioritised the infrastructure and construction
sectors because the government and state owned enterprises
had embarked on major investment programmes in these
sectors – investment which could potentially be undermined
by anti-competitive conduct. During the financial year
the commission’s interventions in these sectors included
enforcement action which uncovered anti-competitive conduct
(see the concrete and plastic pipe cartel cases below); the
prohibition of mergers where the Commission believed that the
mergers would result in a less competitive industry (see the
two Aveng (Africa) Ltd matters and the Much Asphalt (Pty) Ltd
matter below); and interactions with key stakeholders in order
to encourage compliance in this industry and, thereby, improve
overall competitiveness.

The concrete pipes cartel
On 13 February 2009, the Commission referred a complaint
to the Competition Tribunal of South Africa (Tribunal)
involving Rocla (Pty) Ltd (Rocla), Southern Pipeline
Contractors (Pty) Ltd (SPC), Concrete Units (Pty) Ltd
(Concrete Units), Cape Concrete (Pty) Ltd, Aveng (Africa)
Ltd (Aveng Africa), Cobro (Pty) Ltd, Grallio (Pty) Ltd, Craig
Concrete Products (Pty) Ltd, Concrite Walls (Pty) Ltd and
D&D (Pty) Ltd.
These firms are competitors in the market for the production
and supply of precast concrete products: largely pipes,
culverts, manholes and pre-stressed concrete sleepers.
Customers used these products in the construction of roads,
pipelines, bridges, sewerage systems and other major
infrastructure developments.
The Commission initiated this investigation after one of the
firms, Rocla, applied for leniency on 7 December 2007 in
terms of the Commission’s corporate leniency policy (CLP).
In the application, Rocla alleged that the firms mentioned
above were members of a cartel that had operated from the
early 70s until late 2007.
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The Commission investigated this case and concluded
that the respondents had met and reached various
agreements to fix prices and trading conditions, to divide
markets geographically and to allocate tenders, contracts,
and customers among themselves. The arrangements
were applicable to the South African market and in certain
instances even extended into neighbouring countries such
as Mozambique, Namibia, Zambia, Tanzania, Swaziland
and Botswana.
In allocating contracts, the respondents would identify
and compile a list of all available tenders, agree among
themselves who would be allocated what work and on prices
to be quoted for tenders. These allocations occurred in
monthly meetings in which a cartel member known as the
‘banker’ presented a list of all available contracts. The banker
would compile a comprehensive list of all tenders available
and a summary of product delivered by each respondent over
a particular period, in order to enable the cartel to monitor
adherence to agreed tonnages.
The cartel members also developed a document called the
Modus Operandi which identified each cartel member by a
number to conceal the identity of the cartel members. The
Modus Operandi reflected the agreed percentages for each
cartel member; a geographic market allocation arrangement
splitting up the production and sales of pipes, culverts
and manholes; as well as a split of the precast concrete
products which each firm could produce and sell in each
identified market.
During the Commission’s investigation, one of the firms,
Aveng Africa, settled the case with the Commission. In the
settlement agreement, Aveng Africa admitted that its Infraset
division had contravened the Competition Act and, as such,
agreed to pay a R46 million administrative penalty. This
penalty represented 8 percent of turnover attributable to
Infraset. The Tribunal confirmed the consent agreement on
25 February 2009.

The Commission completed its investigation and referred
the case to the Tribunal. The list of respondents in the case
excluded Rocla, as it had been granted conditional leniency,
and D&D and Craig Concrete, as they no longer existed.
The Tribunal will set this matter down for hearing in the next
financial year.

Plastics and Incledon Cape (Pty) Ltd that suggested that
various manufacturers of pipe products in the Western
Cape were engaged in bid-rigging. Before the Commission
had completed its merger assessment, DPI Plastics applied
for and was granted leniency from prosecution and fines.
This was granted in terms of the Commission’s corporate
leniency policy.

The plastic pipes cartel
On 2 February 2009, the Commission referred a complaint
against the manufacturers of polyvinylchloride (PVC)
and high density polyethylene pipe products (plastic
pipes) in South Africa to the Tribunal for adjudication. The
Commission referred this matter after it found that, from as
far back as the 1980s, DPI Plastics (Pty) Ltd (DPI Plastics),
Marley Pipe Systems (Pty) Ltd, Petzetakis Africa (Pty)
Ltd, Swan Plastics (Pty) Ltd, Amitech South Africa (Pty)
Ltd, Flotek & Irrigation (Pty) Ltd, Andrag (Pty) Ltd, Gazelle
(Pty) Ltd and MacNeil Agencies (Pty) Ltd were all involved
in fixing prices, rigging tenders and dividing markets by
allocating contracts and customers.
These firms were all manufacturers and suppliers of
plastic pipe products in South Africa and collectively
enjoyed the majority share of the market. Most of these
manufacturers were vertically integrated and therefore
utilised their vertically integrated merchants to distribute
products. Municipalities, construction companies and
members of the public were the main end-users of plastic
piping and therefore the victims of the respondents’ cartel
arrangements. These customers used plastic pipes in
different applications such as water distribution, wastewater
disposal, plumbing and, in the mining sector, for the
conveyance of potable water, cooling, slurries and air.
The Commission initiated an investigation into collusion in
plastic pipes after its findings in the merger between DPI

The respondents conducted the cartel mainly through
meetings that took place in hotels, restaurants, coffee
shops and golf clubs. At these meetings, the manufacturers
would discuss the appropriate price increases and levels of
discounts to be implemented.
Following its investigation, the Commission referred this
complaint to the Tribunal and sought an administrative
penalty against each respondent equivalent to 10 percent of
each manufacturer’s annual turnover. Several respondents
have since indicated their willingness to settle this case with
the Commission. The matter will be set down in the next
financial year.

Prohibited wire product mergers
During this financial year, the Commission prohibited mergers
in which Aveng Africa intended to purchase Koedoespoort
Reinforcing Steel (Pty) Ltd, Witbank Reinforcing & Wire
Products (Pty) Ltd and Nelspruit Reinforcing Supplies (Pty) Ltd.
The primary acquiring firm, Aveng Africa, controlled
numerous subsidiaries including Grinaker-LTA and Steeledale
Group Limited (Steeledale). Grinaker-LTA was mainly
involved in construction projects. Through Steeledale, Aveng
Africa was involved in the cutting, bending and installation
of steel reinforcing bars, production of hard drawn wire
and mesh, and the supply of mesh for concrete structures
(collectively referred to as steel reinforcing products).
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The proposed transaction would result in an overlap of
activities of the merging parties with respect to the cutting,
bending, supplying and installation of rebar, and supplying
of hard drawn wire and mesh in Gauteng and Nelspruit
(including Witbank). In addition, the proposed transaction
had two vertical implications. Firstly, the primary target
firms sourced some of their mesh and hard drawn wire
requirements from reinforcing steel producers including
Steeledale. Secondly, the primary target firms’ reinforcing
steel activities were upstream to the acquiring firm’s
construction services business, which it conducted through
its Grinaker-LTA division.

highly concentrated and the barriers to entry in both markets
were high.
With respect to the vertical integration, the Commission
found that the merger would result in the primary target firms
(which at the time were independent players and not affiliated
with an input supplier or construction company) becoming
part of a large construction group. This could lead to small
construction companies, which were not vertically integrated
and which competed with the merging parties’ construction
arm, being refused access to reinforcing steel products for
construction projects.
The Commission discovered widespread collusion,
specifically in the market for reinforcing steel products. The
investigations revealed that major competitors met and
exchanged information and attempted to fix prices of the
relevant products.
The removal of four independent companies from the
relevant markets would result in a clear increase in
concentration and was likely to make a collusive outcome
easier to achieve and sustain. Furthermore, the vertical
integration that resulted from these mergers, against this
backdrop of collusive activity, was likely to enhance the ability
of colluding members to ensure adherence to suggested
prices. Accordingly, the Commission found that the mergers
were likely to lead to a substantial prevention and restriction
of competition in the steel reinforcing markets, both from a
unilateral and coordinated effects perspective.

Prohibited asphalt merger
After assessing the application, the Commission found that
the merging firms would have relatively high market shares
for the supply of rebar in the Gauteng (including Witbank)
and Nelspruit markets. The Nelspruit market was particularly
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The Commission prohibited the transaction between Much
Asphalt (Pty) Ltd (Much Asphalt), a subsidiary of Murray
and Roberts Holdings Ltd and Gauteng Asphalt (Pty) Ltd
(Gauteng Asphalt), Road Seal (Pty) Ltd (Road Seal) and
Road Seal Properties (Pty) Ltd (RS Properties). Much

Asphalt was a manufacturer and supplier of hot and cold
asphalt products to the commercial sector. Within these
categories of asphalt products Much Asphalt supplied generic
and specialist and/or proprietary products.
Gauteng Asphalt was a manufacturer and supplier of hot and
cold asphalt products to the private sector, municipalities and
small road construction projects. Road Seal was involved
in paving and laying asphalt products on selected surfaces
including pavements, driveways, roads, urban streets,
freeways, runways, race tracks and bus lanes. RS Properties
held property for and on behalf of its shareholders.

Although the merger did not present any significant public
interest issues or vertical concerns, the Commission
nevertheless assessed this merger and concluded that it
would most likely substantially prevent or lessen competition
in the Gauteng market for production and supply of asphalt
in both the lower end and high end of the market. This was
because (1) the merging parties would have an estimated
combined market share of between 65 percent and 80
percent in the market for the production and supply of hot mix
asphalt to the open market, (2) because of limited access to
inputs and the environmental impact assessments that had
to be done, the market presented fairly significant barriers
to entry and (3) the acquisition of Gauteng Asphalt would
remove the only remaining non-vertically integrated supplier
of asphalt in the lower-end of the market and potential
supplier in the high-end market. This last factor would
increase concentration in the market and make it easier for
the remaining players to collude.
The Commission, therefore, prohibited the proposed
transaction but the parties did not accept the decision and
went on an appeal. At the time of going to print, the matter
was pending before the Tribunal.

Conclusion

The activities of the parties overlapped in the production and
supply of both cold and hot mix asphalt products. In addition,
the transaction would have resulted in vertical integration
– Much Asphalt’s asphalt manufacturing activities were
upstream of Road Seal’s asphalt paving and laying services.

The construction sector has generally been the focus of
many competition authorities around the world and the
cases the Commission has investigated or assessed here
indicate that South Africa is following the same trend. During
this financial year, the infrastructure and construction sector
saw the most activity and attention from the Commission.
Of the 23 complaints initiated, almost half (10) involved
infrastructure and construction.
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Food, agro-processing and forestry
The food and agro-processing industry covers economic
activity from the production of agricultural products through
various stages of processing to final consumer products.
The Commission prioritised this sector because of the
value adding activities and employment involved as well
as the fact that it produced essential products bought by
all consumers, including the poor. During the reporting
period, the Commission continued its focus on specific food
industries, in line with its decision to prioritise this sector in
2007. The Commission’s interventions in food spanned from
bread to poultry to grain storage. These cases encompassed
the investigation and referral of complaints of anti-competitive
behavior, the conclusion of settlement agreements; the
prohibition of potentially problematic mergers and the
approval of beneficial mergers. Two of the Commission’s
cases in this sector are set out in more detail below.

allocating territories where each firm would be the only one
operating a bakery in a particular territory and supplying all
distributors in the allocated area. The Commission referred
the national bread complaint to the Tribunal in March 2008.
Tiger Brands settled its case and agreed to pay a penalty of
approximately R98 million.

Commission settles with Foodcorp in
the bread cartel
On 6 January 2009, the Tribunal approved a settlement
agreement entered into between the Commission and
Foodcorp (Pty) Ltd (Foodcorp) over the latter’s participation
in the bread cartel, which spanned over a number of years.
This followed the Commission’s investigation of a cartel in the
bread industry that operated on a national level and involved
both price fixing and market allocation.
The Commission’s investigation established that during the
period 1995 to 2006, Premier Foods Limited, Tiger Food
Brands Limited (Tiger Brands), Pioneer Foods (Pty) Ltd
(Pioneer Foods) and Foodcorp were involved in a price fixing
and market allocation cartel in the national bread market.
The Commission discovered that these firms held telephonic
discussions and meetings where they directly fixed the selling
price of bread; directly fixed the dates when such agreed
price increases would be effective; and divided markets by

On 1 July 2008, Foodcorp approached the Commission with
a view to settling the case against it. This was after Foodcorp
had conducted its own internal investigations and agreed with
the Commission that it had contravened the Act. Although
Foodcorp indicated its intention to settle all matters the
Commission was investigating against it, no proposals were
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made in so far as a separate but related milling investigation
went. Moreover, the Commission had, independent of
the initiated complaints, received a complaint by a small
bakery in Mpumalanga province alleging that Sunbake, a
subsidiary of Foodcorp, had called a meeting of all bakers in
the Malelane area and reached agreement with some of the
bakers not to sell bread below a certain price. Foodcorp, in
its settlement proposals, admitted that it was a participant in
the national bread cartel and admitted its involvement in the
Malelane matter.
In terms of the settlement agreement, Foodcorp admitted that
Sunbake Bakeries was engaged in fixing the price of bread
sold to consumers. Foodcorp agreed to pay an administrative
penalty of R45,406,359.82 (forty five million, four hundred
and six thousand, three hundred and fifty nine rand and
eighty two cents), representing 6,7 percent of its turnover
from all its baking operations for the 2006 financial year.
Foodcorp further agreed to:
• cooperate with the Commission in the prosecution of any
other cartel members
• develop and implement a compliance programme to
ensure that the company did not engage in further anticompetitive behaviour.
The administrative penalty differed from that given to Tiger
Brands’ 5.7 percent penalty mainly because the level of
cooperation received from Foodcorp, demonstrated the
high level of importance the Commission attached to
cooperation from respondents. Foodcorp’s cooperation
was not to the same degree as that of Tiger Brands. Tiger
Brands had volunteered to cooperate with the Commission
upon becoming aware of the matter and had conducted its
own internal investigations and made available the findings
of that investigation to the Commission. Foodcorp on the
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other hand, ought to have been aware of the investigation
in February 2007, when the Commission issued a press
release, but only made proposals for settlement after the
Commission’s investigations had been completed and the
matter had been referred. Furthermore, Foodcorp did not
make available to the Commission its findings in respect of
its internal investigation.
Foodcorp, nevertheless, agreed to testify against the
remaining member of the bread cartel, namely Pioneer
Foods. This matter was set down for hearing in June 2009.

Merger approved in the fish market but
referred for investigation
On 23 December 2008, Business Venture Corporation
(Pty) Ltd (Business Venture) notified the Commission of
its intention to acquire Sea Harvest Limited (Sea Harvest).
Business Venture was jointly controlled by Brimco (Pty)
Ltd (Brimco) and Kagiso Strategic Investments III (Pty)
Ltd (KSI). Brimco and KSI were subsidiaries of Brimstone
Investment Corporation Limited (Brimstone) and Kagiso Trust
Investments (Pty) Ltd (Kagiso) respectively.
Prior to implementing the transaction, Sea Harvest was
controlled by Tiger Brands Limited (Tiger) in that it held 73.16
percent of the entire issued share capital of Sea Harvest. The
balance of 21.52 percent was held indirectly by Brimstone
and The Sea Harvest Employee Trust with a 5.32 percent
shareholding.
Brimstone was an investment holding company holding
a diverse portfolio of interests in a number of firms. Of
particular relevance to this transaction was Brimstone’s
interest in the Oceana Group Limited (‘Oceana’). Oceana
and Sea Harvest operated in the fishing industry. Tiger

also had an equity interest in Oceana and according to the
Commission this interest enabled Tiger to exercise control
over Oceana together with Brimstone.

could encroach into Sea Harvest’s market. This would
possibly have been a contravention of the cartel provisions of
the Act.

Oceana and Sea Harvest competed in the harvesting, supply
and marketing of hake and small pelagic fish.

At the time of the merger the Commission had already been
investigating the markets in which Oceana and Sea Harvest
competed. Accordingly, the findings from the merger were
referred for investigation together with the Commission’s
ongoing matters in this area.

The Commission assessed this merger and concluded
that the merger raised no significant competition concerns.
Accordingly, the Commission recommended to the Tribunal
that the merger be approved without conditions.

The Tribunal upheld the Commission’s recommendation and
approved the merger without conditions.

Conclusion
Food, agro-processing and forestry remained high amongst
the Commission’s priorities during this year. The Commission
approached the sector holistically and gained further insight
from the inter-divisional food study group it assembled.
The Commission initiated 5 investigations in the food
industry during this year. In future the Commission intends
to continue its focus in this area and to collaborate with
African competition agencies to share lessons on competition
interventions in food.
Although the merger itself did not raise concerns, during the
merger investigation, the Commission found that Tiger and
Brimstone had entered into various agreements, some of
which, particularly those in relation to Sea Harvest, contained
‘non-competition’ clauses. In terms of these clauses
Brimstone or any of its subsidiaries were precluded from
acquiring an interest in businesses similar to or in competition
with Sea Harvest. The Commission was concerned that
the pre-merger relationships governed by shareholding
and agreements between the parties could have possibly
prevented Brimstone from proposing any expansion that
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Intermediate industrial products
Intermediate industrial products include basic chemicals
and basic metal products that form key inputs to diversified
manufactured products. Prices in these areas have in many
instances risen at rates substantially in excess of producer
and consumer inflation. Accordingly, this industry is part of
the Commission’s priorities with several matters having been
completed in this area over the reporting period. This section
highlights the Commission’s settlement with the Reclamation
Group, as well as a merger which the Commission prohibited
in this priority sector, given the competition concerns which
would have arisen had the merger been implemented.

The scrap metal cartel
During this financial year, the Commission concluded its
investigation against scrap metal suppliers following the
Tribunal confirmation of the Reclamation Group’s (Reclam)
consent agreement on 7 May 2008.
In terms of the consent agreement, the Commission found
that Reclam and its competitors had been involved in a
cartel to fix prices, allocate markets and collude on tenders
in the ferrous and non-ferrous scrap metal markets. Reclam
agreed:
• to pay an administrative penalty of R145,972,065.00 (one
hundred and forty five million, nine hundred and seventy
two thousand and sixty five rand), which amounts to
six percent of Reclam’s annual turnover in the affected
markets
• that it would no longer be involved in any arrangements
which constituted a prohibited practice in terms of the Act
• to implement a compliance programme for its employees,
management and directors
Reclam also undertook to offer its full cooperation to assist
the Commission in concluding its investigation in the

scrap metal industry. Several respondents in this matter
have indicated a willingness to settle this case with the
Commission. This process was under way at the end of the
financial year.

Prohibited chemicals merger
The Commission prohibited the transaction between Senmin
International (Proprietary) Limited (Senmin), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Chemical Services Limited (Chemserve), which
in turn is controlled by AECI Limited and the primary target
firm Cellulose Derivatives (Proprietary) Limited (Cellulose
Derivatives), a company controlled by a family trust called the
Shannon Trust.
Cellulose Derivatives is the only manufacturer of a product
called technical grade carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) in
South Africa. Technical grade CMC is a depressant used in
mines, particularly platinum mines. CMC is distributed by
two companies in South Africa, GM Associates and Senmin.
As the transaction was a backward integration into the only
upstream manufacturer of technical grade CMC in South
Africa, it raised potential input foreclosure concerns as the
merged entity would have been able to exercise market
power in the upstream market. Consequently, the merged
entity would have been in a strong position to foreclose
downstream rivals, particularly GM Associates.
The Commission also found that the incentive to foreclose
downstream rivals would have been enhanced through the
use of a vendor management scheme, essentially a tool
designed to allow customers to enjoy ‘free’ service from
Senmin if such customers purchased at least 80 percent of
the bundle of products offered by Senmin. CMC comprised
40 percent of this bundle and post the transaction, Senmin
would have been in a stronger position to utilise this system,
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Intermediate industrial products (continued)

possibly influencing customers to purchase CMC as part of
the bundle. The success of this bundling would effectively
drive out competition as Senmin’s downstream rivals would
be unable to replicate this offering.
Senmin advanced proposals on supply conditions that could
be imposed on the transaction to alleviate the foreclosure
concerns. The Commission considered these extensively
and concluded that such conditions would not diminish
foreclosure concerns, the main reason being that the pricing
conditions would not preclude the exclusion of downstream
rivals. The merged entity could still achieve a foreclosure
strategy even in the presence of the supply conditions. As
such, the Commission prohibited the transaction. The parties
later abandoned the merger.
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Conclusion
Intermediate industrial products represent the building blocks
of major industries, hence there has been much focus on
this industry by the State. The Commission has a number
of investigations ongoing within the steel and the polymers
markets. These will be reported on in more detail when they
have been concluded.

Financial Services
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Financial services
Competition concerns in this sector arose from the fact
that concentration was very high in almost all banking
product categories with little evidence of rivalry between
the four largest banks, which accounted for 86 percent of
total deposits and 99.7 percent of transactions through
the payments system. Fees were also high and increasing
rapidly with the incidence of costs falling particularly heavily
on low-income customers and small businesses. There
was also substantial public concern regarding the level of
charges of banks and other providers of payment services
to consumers.

The panel accepted claims of confidentiality made by
stakeholders in good faith, given the voluntary nature of the
enquiry. These claims were neither contested during the
hearings nor at the time of writing the report. Redacting the
report accordingly took more time than expected, contributing
to a delay between the end of June 2008, when the executive
overview was released and 17 December 2008, when the
complete non-confidential version of the Technical Report
was made available to the public.

The sector was of particular significance as more efficient
and competitive financial services would reduce the cost
of capital to small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and all
consumers. Lower bank charges and fees would also make
banking services more affordable to low income earners.
This financial year, the Commission continued to prioritise
financial services as detailed below.

Progress in retail banking
During this year, the Banking Enquiry established by the
Commission completed its report and published both the
summary and, later, the complete non-confidential Technical
Report of the Banking Enquiry (Technical Report). The
Commission established the banking enquiry in August 2006
in terms of section 21 of the Act to examine competition in the
provision of personal transaction accounts in South Africa.
The enquiry panel conducted its work independently of the
Commission and industry participation in the process was
voluntary. The panel’s technical report was handed to the
Commissioner on 17 June 2008. At a press conference on
25 June 2008 the enquiry panel released a non-confidential
executive overview of the Technical Report, containing its 28
recommendations to the public.
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Shortly after the release of the complete non-confidential
version, unknown individuals accessed the document and
illegally uncensored some of the portions of the report which
had been blackened out. It was unfortunate and highly
regrettable that some of the confidential information came to
be publicly available. However, the Commission acted swiftly
to minimise any damage to the owners of the confidential
information and has since implemented additional measures
to protect information available on its website.
In the Technical Report, the enquiry panel adopted a holistic
approach, identifying competition problems and concerns in
the retail banking industry as a whole. As a result many of
the panel’s recommendations do not fall squarely or solely

within the jurisdiction of the Commission. The cooperation
of other government departments or institutions was,
therefore, vital to the successful implementation of the
panel’s recommendations. To that end, key stakeholders
established a steering committee to review and oversee
the implementation of the panel’s recommendations. The
steering committee is chaired by the National Treasury and
included representatives from the Commission and the DTI’s
Consumer and Corporate Regulation division.

industry members have been encouraged to address
recommendations they could implement individually. The
Banking Association of South Africa had been similarly
encouraged, and is due to report its progress and plans to
the steering committee in July. The Commission expects
implementation of many of the recommendations to be
substantially advanced by the end of 2009.

Four technical working groups each addressing sets
of particularly complex recommendations supports the
steering committee. The steering committee has and
continues to communicate effectively with the banking
industry concerning the recommendations. In addition,
the committee was set up to oversee the implementation
of work done by the Banking Association of South Africa,
among others. Moreover, the steering committee would from
time to time receive submissions from non-governmental
stakeholders – an essential part of any reform process
requiring industry cooperation.

For purposes of its pro-active interventions, the Commission
continued to prioritise all of the sectors referred to above
during this financial year and directed much of its resources
to this. Beyond the complaints initiated and the mergers
assessed, the Commission also engaged in advocacy in
order to encourage compliance and influence decision
makers in the private and public sectors towards competition
sensitive outcomes. As mentioned above, the Commission
initiated 23 complaints this year. Of these 15 were in the
priority sectors alone, compared to last year’s total initiations
of 10. A number of the major cases in the priority sectors are
set to be concluded (either through settlement or through
Tribunal hearings) in the next financial year and will be fully
reported on in the next period.

The steering committee met twice in the financial year and
planned to meet again in July 2009. It agreed that there
should not be more than two months between steering
committee meetings. Three of the four working groups
also met and began work, which included further research,
in order to fully understand how best to address certain
recommendations. At the time of publication, the fourth
working group was due to meet soon. The Commission is
building good working relationships with all members of the
steering committee.

Conclusion on priority sectors

Each working group had or was in the process of devising
working plans for steering committee approval. These
plans provide the roadmap for reviewing and assessing
the panel’s recommendations, and devising the most
appropriate method of implementation. In the meantime
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PART 2: DIVISION REPORTS
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Enforcement and exemptions
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Standing first row: Nelly Sakata, William Kganare, Shadrack Rambau, Oupa Bodibe,
Nompucuko Nontombana, Perceive Maswanganyi, Nyadzani Mabasa and Avish Kalicharan
Standing back row: Anthony Ndzabandzaba, Tlabo Mabye, Toto Fiduli, Tamara Paremoer, Wanda Ngoma,
Phil Alves, Itumeleng Lesofe, Vincent Motshwane and Johan Liebenberg
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Enforcement and exemptions
Overview

Figure 1: Comparison of enforcement cases received by the
Commission during 2007/08 and 2008/09.

The mandate of the Enforcement and Exemptions division
(E&E) is to carry out the Commission’s enforcement function.
The division focuses on investigating anti-competitive
practices as set out in sections 4, 5, 8 and 9, Chapter 2 of
the Act as well as on evaluating exemption applications
in terms of section 10 of and Schedule 1 to the Act. The
division’s other functions include the administration of the
Commission’s corporate leniency policy (CLP), and it also
assists in the prosecution of anti-competitive conduct.
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Simon Roberts and, thereafter, Tembinkosi Bonakele were
appointed as acting managers of the E&E division following
the resignation of Thulani Kunene.
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Chapter 2 prohibits three classes of anti-competitive
conduct: restrictive horizontal practices, restrictive
vertical practices, and abuse of a dominant position. The
Commission investigates complaints either from its own
initiations or from complaints filed by members of the public
or private enterprises. Where a prohibited practice has been
established, the Commission will refer the matter to the
Tribunal for adjudication. In some cases, the Commission
reaches a settlement agreement with the relevant respondent
or respondents.
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carried over
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from previous received from initiated by
year
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Commission
2007-2008

Total

2008-2009

The number of cases initiated by the Commissioner
increased significantly from 10 in the 2007/08 financial
year to 23 in the current year, reflecting the increasingly
proactive stance taken by the Commission in investigating
suspected contraventions. Of the 23 cases initiated, 15
were in the Commission’s priority sectors while three of the
investigations were in the petroleum products sector. Figure
2 below represents the total number of cases initiated by the
Commissioner by sector.
Figure 2: Cases initiated in 2008/09, classified by sector

Activities
5

During the period under review, the Commission focused
on sectors where it could most strongly impact the economy
and consumers, and this has manifested itself most clearly
in its enforcement activity where successful prosecutions
continued to raise the Commission’s public profile.

10

petroleum products
food and agro-processing
other
5

The Commission investigated or evaluated 210 cases, 56
of which were carried over from the previous year. Figure
1 provides a comparison of cases received in 2007/08 and
2008/09, including exemption applications.
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infrastructure and construction

3

Of the 210 cases E&E dealt with in this financial year, the
Commission non-referred 105 of these at the screening
stage, while it non-referred 19 cases after further
investigation. Generally complaints are labelled ‘non-referred’
if the complaint does not have a foundation in the Act, the
Commission could not find sufficient evidence to sustain
the allegations made in the complaint or if the Commission
has no jurisdiction over the complaint, in which case it is
forwarded to another regulator or statutory body.
Of the 105 cases that the Commission non-referred at
the screening stage, eight complainants were redirected
to the Office of Consumer Affairs, five complainants were
referred to the State Tender Board while six complainants
were referred to other bodies including the Independent
Communications Authority of South Africa, International
Trade Administration Commission, the South African Police
Services, and the South African Revenue Services. The
Commission referred 11 cases to the Tribunal for adjudication
while two cases were withdrawn. In four cases consent

agreements were entered into between the Commission and
the relevant respondents. The E&E division has carried 69
cases over for investigation in the next financial year.
The Commission’s CLP, which E&E administers, aims to
detect and prevent cartel behaviour by providing immunity
from prosecution to the first cartel member that approaches
the Commission with information about a cartel. Due to
the secretive nature of cartels, often the most effective
way to find out about them is from an insider. This year,
the E&E division handled a total of 13 leniency and marker
applications, which is a new record and may partly be
attributed to the changes the Commission made to the CLP.
These applications were made by companies across a wide
range of sectors including construction, liquid fuels, and food.
By the end of the period under review, The Commission had
granted six leniency applicants conditional immunity. The
Commission is currently investigating the conduct exposed
in these applications, conduct which may not have been
brought to the fore in the absence of the CLP.
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Enforcement and exemptions (continued)

Box 1. Review of the Corporate Leniency Policy
In May 2008, the Commission amended its CLP following a review process undertaken in the previous financial year. Drawing
on over three years of experience in applying the CLP, the amendments aimed at making the policy a more effective tool for
cartel busting. The review process involved consulting with stakeholders and researching international best practice.
The Commission published amendments to the CLP in the Government Gazette on 23 May 2008 and the new CLP became
effective on that date. The amendments focus on the following five main areas:
1. Legal certainty: the amendments provide greater legal certainty to applicants regarding the Commission’s process for
dealing with applications for immunity under the CLP. This is important to provide applicants with the necessary comfort
that they will be granted immunity if the conditions and requirements of the CLP are met. At the time of printing, the
Competition Amendment Bill provided for the incorporation of the CLP in the law. Should the Bill be passed in this form, it
would provide further recognition of the CLP as a tool for the effective detection and eradication of cartels.
2. Role in the cartel: whereas in the past the CLP was not applicable to instigators of a cartel, all cartel members are now
eligible to apply for immunity under the CLP. In the Commission’s view, making all cartel members eligible for leniency
further destabilises cartels and increases the potential for detection. This amendment is in line with international best
practice in several other jurisdictions.
3. Oral submissions: the amendment introduces an oral statements procedure to enable applicants to submit information
regarding an alleged cartel orally. This procedure affords applicants added protection from discovery in other
proceedings, particularly proceedings in other jurisdictions. Nevertheless, it does not replace the need to submit a written
application for immunity. The Commission also has the discretion to accept or refuse such requests for oral submissions.
The procedure provides for oral statements to be recorded and transcribed at the premises of the Commission.
These oral statements then form part of the Commission records and amount to restricted information pursuant to the
Commission’s rules for the conduct of proceedings. This amendment is in line with international best practice and is
particularly intended to encourage participants in international cartels to submit applications under the CLP.
4. Marker procedure: the amendments introduce a marker procedure. This procedure enables potential applicants to
request the Commission to reserve its place in the queue of applications for immunity while it collects the information
necessary to make a formal leniency application. The Commission has discretion whether to grant or refuse a marker
application. If granted, the Commission determines the deadline by which the applicant must submit a formal application
for immunity. The Commission believes that the introduction of a marker system will facilitate early detection of cartels
and encourage potential applicants to come forward earlier.
5. E&E responsible division: the amendments clarify that E&E is the division within the Commission responsible for
receiving and dealing with applications made under the CLP.
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Mergers and acquisitions
Overview
The Mergers and Acquisitions (M&A) division is responsible
for administering the provisions of Chapter 3 of the Act. The
division’s core function is to investigate and analyse mergers.
Merger control is aimed at preventing the establishment of
anti-competitive structures in a market through mergers and
acquisitions. The Act gives the competition authorities the
jurisdiction to review all transactions that meet the required
thresholds for intermediate and large mergers. Parties
may not implement large and intermediate mergers before
approval by the competition authorities. The Act further
provides for the voluntary notification of small mergers. In
specific circumstances the Commission can require the
notification of a small merger.
The Commission investigates all notified mergers to
determine whether the transaction is likely to lead to a
substantial prevention or lessening of competition and/or if it
will have an adverse effect on public interest.

The Commission approves, conditionally approves or
prohibits intermediate mergers. For large mergers the
Commission makes a recommendation to the Tribunal to
approve, conditionally approve or prohibit a merger. The
Tribunal has jurisdiction to decide on large mergers.
Maarten Van Hoven was appointed as manager of M&A on
12 January 2009.

Activities
During the year under review, the Commission saw a
reduction in the number of notified mergers from 513 for
2007/08 to 414 for 2008/09. This may be attributed to the
global economic slowdown.
In addition to the mergers reported under the discussion on
priority sectors above, the Commission intervened in various
mergers where it found that the transactions raised significant
competition or public interest concerns. A summary thereof
appears in Table 1. Below Table 1, figures 3 and 4 illustrate
merger decisions by type and sector during this financial year.

Table 1: Commission’s interventions in problematic mergers and acquisitions
Parties

Anti-competitive effect of
merger

Commission’s intervention

Outcome

Scaw South Africa/Ozz
Industries

High market shares and high
barriers to entry

Behavioural condition: supply Tribunal imposed the
conditions were set
condition

Investec Bank Limited/RJ
Southey

Structural links between the
parties which could facilitate
collusion

Structural condition:
divestiture of businesses

Tribunal imposed the
condition

Media 24 Limited/UpperCase Removal of an effective

Structural condition:

Tribunal imposed the

Media

competitor

divestiture of businesses

condition

Zungu Investment Company/
African Vanguard Resources

Coordinated effects

Behavioural condition:
appointment of director
condition was set

Tribunal imposed the
condition

Transaction withdrawn

Transaction withdrawn

BHP Billiton/Rio Tinto (hostile Unilateral effects
take-over)
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Parties

Anti-competitive effect of
merger

Commission’s intervention

Outcome

Alstom Electrical SA/Current
Electric

Foreclosure concerns

Behavioural condition: supply Parties accepted the
conditions were set
Commission’s conditions

Eveready/House of York

Employments issues

Behavioural condition: supply Parties accepted the
conditions were set
Commission’s conditions

WPP Group Plc/Taylor
Nelson Sofres Plc

High barriers and removal of
effective competitor

Structural condition:
divestiture of businesses

Parties accepted the
Commission’s conditions

Drs Du Buisson, Kramer,
Swart, Bouwer Incorporated/
Ampath Holdings Trust

Stifling of competition
through a right of first refusal
to enter a non-exclusive
lease agreement

Behavioural condition:
removal of clause

Parties accepted the
Commission’s conditions

Cape Gate Holdings/
Universal Recycling
Company

Coordinated effects

Prohibition recommended to
the Tribunal

Tribunal prohibited the
merger

Aveng Africa/Koedoespoort
Reinforcing, Witbank
Reinforcing & Wire Products,
Wire & Products, Nelspruit
Reinforcing Supplies

Coordinated effects

Prohibition recommended to
the Tribunal

Parties withdrew matter
before the Tribunal hearing

Much Asphalt/Gauteng
Asphalt

Coordinated effects

Prohibition recommended to
the Tribunal

On appeal

Senmin/Chemserve

Foreclosure concerns

Prohibition recommended to
the parties

Parties accepted the
Commission’s conditions

Figure 3: Merger decisions by type				
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Figure 4: Merger decisions by sector

Other 14%
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Horizontal
Vertical
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Horizontal/Vertical

Mining 7%
Construction 5%
Financial 5%
Information Technology 2%
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Telecomm 4%

Manufacturing 31%
Property 16%

30%
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Retail 5%

Wholesale 5%
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Mergers and aquisitions (continued)

Highlights
Merger thresholds
During this year, the Minister of Trade and Industry, following
a recommendation by the Commission, increased the merger
thresholds, with effect from 1 April 2009. In terms of the Act,
the Minister of Trade and Industry, in consultation with the
Commission, must determine a lower and higher threshold
for the purpose of determining small, intermediate and large
categories of mergers.
During the latter part of 2008, the Minister proposed changes
to the thresholds and invited comments from interested
parties. Various submissions were received. The business
community generally welcomed the proposed changes, as
they were likely to reduce the burden on firms to notify the
Commission of transactions. Having considered the received
submissions, the Minister published new thresholds, with
effect from 1 April 2009. The new thresholds are set out in
Table 2 below.
Table 2: New merger thresholds with effect from 1 April 2009
Combined
turnover/asset
value

Target firm
turnover/asset
value

Lower threshold

R560,000,000

R80,000,000

Higher threshold

R6,600,000,000

R190,000,000

Threshold

In addition to the change in thresholds, the Minister
announced that the filing fee payable for intermediate and
large mergers would increase. The filing fee for these two
categories of mergers increased to R100,000 and R350,000
respectively. The new regulations did not change the manner
in which merger thresholds were to be calculated.
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Although the new thresholds signaled a reduction in
the Commission’s workload, the regulations also meant
that mergers which had previously been notifiable to the
competition authorities would now no longer be notified. This
is because, in terms of the Act, all mergers that fall below
the prescribed thresholds are classified as small mergers
and are not notifiable, unless requested by the competition
authorities.
In order to ensure that problematic small mergers did
not escape competition scrutiny, the Commission issued
a guideline advising the business community when the
Commission would require information and notification of
small mergers firms entered into. In brief, the Commission
requested parties to inform it of small mergers entered into
by firms that were subject to Chapter 2 investigations and/
or firms that were respondents before the Tribunal in terms
of Chapter 2 of the Act. The Commission notified business
that upon being informed of the transaction, the Commission
would request parties to notify the transaction where this
was warranted. The Commission believed that by issuing
the small merger guidelines, it could possibly prevent anticompetitive effects resulting from small mergers.
Before this financial year, the merger thresholds had not
been amended since 2001. The changes were necessitated
by the significant economic growth the country had
experienced over the last few years. The structure of the
Commission had remained relatively unchanged and merger
notifications had increased approximately three-fold from
2001 to 2008.
The Commission has created a threshold calculator
which can be used by firms to determine whether or not
their proposed mergers are notifiable in terms of the new
thresholds. The merger threshold calculator is available to
the public on the Commission’s website.

Legal services

Seated: Paulina Mfomme, Rizia Buckas, Wendy Mkwananzi, Tshepiso Sepeng and Mahashane Shabangu
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and Bukhosibakhe Majenge
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Legal services
Overview
The Legal Services division (LSD) provides legal services
and support to the Commission and prosecutes matters
before the Tribunal. As a result of internal restructuring, which
took place during this financial year, LSD presently also
provides advisory opinions. The bulk of LSD’s matters are
referred to it from the M&A and E&E divisions. In this respect,
LSD forms part of the case teams and also prepares matters
for prosecution in the Tribunal, where necessary.
Following the departure of Mark Worsley, Wendy Mkwananzi
was appointed as the Commission’s chief legal counsel and
manager of LSD on 16 September 2008.

Activities
As is evident from Figure 5 below, the Commission has seen
a consistent decrease in the number of clarifications issued
year on year, from the period 2005 to date, while the number
of advisory opinions issued declined only in the last financial
year. During 2008/09, the Commission issued 22 advisory
opinions and 13 clarifications.
Figure 5: Comparison of number of advisory opinions and
clarifications issued for the financial years 2005/06, 2006/07,
2007/08 and 2008/09
114

120
100

84
80
60

47

46

53
45

40
22
20
0

2005-2006

2006-2007

Advisory opinions

2006-2008

32 Competition Commission South Africa - Annual Report 2008/09

13

2008-2009

Clarifications

The LSD concluded nine consent agreements with respondents,
including agreements with Aveng Africa, American Natural Soda
Ash Corporation, Lancewood Cheese (Pty) Ltd, Foodcorp (Pty)
Ltd and New Reclamation Group (Pty) Ltd.
In addition to the enforcement matters, which totaled 62
during this financial year, LSD attended to 52 mergers. The
Commission, through LSD, also had 10 matters before the
Competition Appeal Court, the High Court and the Supreme
Court of Appeals.
A total of R331,423,704.66 (three hundred and thirty one
million, four hundred and twenty three thousand, seven
hundred and four rand and sixty six cents) was levied in
administrative penalties during this financial year. Table 3
sets out the detail of the administrative penalties levied.

Table 3: Administrative penalties levied in the 2008/09
Name of party fined

Amount
of penalty
recommended
by the
Commission

% of turnover
recommended
by the
Commission

Amount of
penalty ordered
by the Tribunal

% of turnover
ordered by the
Tribunal

1.

Adcock Ingram Critical Care (Pty)
Ltd, Tiger Brands Limited

R53,502,800.00

8%

R53,502,800.00

8%

2.

Thusanong (Pty) Ltd

R287,415.75

5%

R287,415.75

5%

3.

Dismed Criticare (Pty) Ltd

R1,277,057.88

6%

R1,277,057.88

6%

4.

Aveng (Africa) Limited

R46,277,000.00

8%

R46,277,000.00

8%

No.

5.

Lancewood

6.

Foodcorp (Pty) Ltd

7.

American Natural Soda Ash
Corporation,
CHC Global (Pty) Ltd

8.

Bonheur 50 General Trading (Pty)
Ltd & Komatiland Forests (Pty)
Ltd

9.

The New Reclamation Group
(Pty) Ltd

R100,000.00

10%

R100,000.00

10%

R45,406,359.82

6.7%

R45,406,359.82

6,7%

R9,696,846.96

8%

R9,696,846.96

8%

R500,000.00

R145,972,065.00

R500,000.00

6%

Total

R145,972,065.00

6%

R331,423,704.66

Figure 6: Comparison of the total administrative penalties
levied through consent orders for 2006/07, 2007/08 and
2008/09
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Highlights
Conclusion of the longest pending case in the
Commission’s history
During the first week of November 2008 the Commission
concluded a consent order agreement between itself and the
American Natural Soda Ash Corporation (ANSAC), bringing
to an end what has been the longest pending case in the
history of the Commission.
ANSAC is an association of four major soda ash producers
in the United States of America incorporated during the
1980’s in terms of the United States Export Trade Act of
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Legal services (continued)

1918, commonly known as the Webb-Pomerene Act. ANSAC
exported soda ash from the USA to various countries
excluding Canada. In order to facilitate the sale of its soda
ash in South Africa, ANSAC appointed CHC Global (Pty) Ltd
as its agent to canvass orders.
During 1999, the Commission received a complaint from
Botswana Ash (Pty) Ltd (Botash) alleging among others that
the members of ANSAC were fixing the selling price of soda
ash and dividing markets in contravention of the Act.
Following its investigation, the Commission concluded
that ANSAC’s members were fixing the price of soda ash
through the ANSAC membership agreement and referred this
complaint to the Tribunal for adjudication.
What followed, after the Commission’s referral, was a
protracted legal battle which took place in the Tribunal, then
the Competition Appeal Court, thereafter the Supreme Court
of Appeals and finally back in the Tribunal. Throughout the
nine-year long proceedings ANSAC argued that it was a
legitimate joint venture which was pro-competitive rather than
anti-competitive and that the ANSAC membership agreement
had to be characterised according to its true nature, and not
simply viewed as a price-fixing arrangement. On the other
hand, the Commission and Botash argued that ANSAC:
• was an association of competitors whose sole purpose,
as per its membership agreement, was to fix the prices
at which these competitors sold soda ash into the South
African market and
• was in fact a price raising cartel which deprived South
African consumers the benefit of competition among its
individual members.

34 Competition Commission South Africa - Annual Report 2008/09

However, in September 2008, ANSAC approached the
Commission to discuss settlement, stating that it had made
a commercial decision to withdraw from the South African
market and accordingly wished to enter into an appropriate
settlement agreement solely for the purposes of settling the
matter.
Following negotiations, on 3 November 2008, the
Commission and ANSAC concluded a settlement agreement
in terms of which ANSAC, amongst other things, admitted to
contravening the Act and agreeing to pay an administrative
penalty of R9,696,846.96 (nine million six hundred and
ninety-six thousand, eight hundred and forty-six Rand and
ninety-six cents).
The parties presented the signed settlement agreement to
the Tribunal on 4 November 2008 and subsequently it was
confirmed as an order of the Tribunal, thereby concluding the
longest-serving matter before the competition authorities to
date.

Box 2. Criminal investigations referred to the National Prosecuting Authority
During the reporting period, a number of criminal complaints have, for the first time, been opened at the instance of the
Commission and referred to the National Prosecuting Authority for decision-making. The cases pertain particularly to:
• common law perjury and/or knowingly providing false information to the Commission, in contravention of section 73(2)(d)
of the Act, during an investigation or during proceedings at the Tribunal
• failure to appear on summons issued in terms of section 49A of the Act;
• improperly influencing the Commission, in contravention of section 73(2)(a) of the Act and
• intentionally accessing or intercepting the Commission’s Banking Enquiry Report without authority or permission, in
contravention of section 86 of the Electronic Communications and Transactions Act, 25 of 2002.
Initially, the Commission opened these cases at the Sunnyside Police Station. However, the Commission reached an
understanding with the office of the Director of Public Prosecutions in Pretoria to refer all criminal matters from the
Commission to his office. Cases are, therefore, now compiled within the Commission and when appropriate referred to the
director. The Commission has secured the director’s attendance to these matters in light of the fact that it, the Commission,
deals with highly sensitive and serious matters. The Commission believes the director’s office will appropriately decide on and
direct the prosecution of these criminal complaints.
By bringing these complaints during this financial year, the Commission signalled a new era of utilising all of the powers
available to it in the law. It is important that all respondents in matters before the competition authorities appreciate their
obligation to provide complete, timeous and truthful information to the authorities. Equally, individuals who are intent on
accessing confidential records of the Commission illegally should be aware that the Commission will pursue every avenue
available to protect the information in its possession.
The primary investigations of the Commission to which these criminal complaints pertain continue as usual.
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Policy and research
Simon Roberts is the Commission’s Chief economist and
manager of the P&R division.

Overview
The Policy and Research (P&R) division is mainly concerned
with undertaking economic analysis for merger and
enforcement cases, as part of inter-divisional teams. As the
Commission’s work in the enforcement area has grown over
the past year, so P&R’s work has increased accordingly.
Substantial economic analyses have been carried out on
matters in, among others, construction, telecommunications,
food and banking. Some of this work has been in the form of
initial studies of market conditions and competition concerns
in priority sectors as part of the Commission’s proactive
stance.
A better understanding of key competition concerns and
the application of competition economics is an important
part of the work of the P&R division. Therefore, staff of P&R
undertake research, do workshop and seminar presentations
and run capacity building sessions.

Activities
Altogether, P&R worked on 109 cases over the year, both
mergers and enforcement cases. Division economists also
played a key role in the Commission’s engagement with the
analysis and recommendations of the banking enquiry.
An important aspect of the division’s work was to build an
understanding of competition economics, inside and outside
the Commission. These activities included submissions on
regulatory matters, presentations and seminars, internal
briefing papers, conference papers, journal articles and
submissions to international forums. The division’s activities
for this financial year are listed in Table 4.

Table 4: Policy and research activities in 2008/09
Activity

Topic

Submissions on
regulatory matters

•
•
•
•
•

Presentations and
seminars

•
•
•
•

ICASA, on various proposed regulations pertaining to competition aspects of the Electronic
Communications Act
National Treasury, on the assumptions about competition in their economic modelling
Department of Health, on the proposed Health Amendment Bill
Department of Transport, on rail sector reforms
Parliament, on aspects of the Competition Amendment Bill
6 seminars at the Commission with outside presenters
20 capacity building sessions presented by P&R economists on competition economics for
Commission staff
4 presentations at internal seminars on key cases and the economic analysis undertaken
2 training sessions in specialised areas organised by P&R with outside experts (survey
methods and a workshop on merger simulation models)
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Activity

Topic

Internal briefing papers •
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
Conference papers

•
•
•
•

•

Policy approaches to margin squeeze in the telecommunications sector in South Africa
Post Chicago and The Developmental State: The Case of Competition Policy in South Africa
Competition Policy and the Developmental State
Use of price correlation and stationarity analysis in market definition – lessons from recent
mergers
Appropriate standards for assessing exclusionary conduct: a case study of the nitrogen value
chain in South Africa
Towards an optimal competition policy in South Africa: Post Chicago and the Developmental
state
Competition concerns in food

•
•

3 papers to the OECD
2 papers to the ICN

•
•

Submissions to
international forums

Information exchange as a means of facilitating collusion or concerted practices
Assessing margin squeeze complaints
Merger simulation and its potential role in South African merger control
Assessing the anti-competitive effects of equipment placement in the beverages and ice
cream markets
The role of forensic economics in competition law enforcement
Buyer power, monopoly and countervailing power
The competition implications of joint ventures
The competitive effects of partial acquisitions: lessons from recent mergers
Import Parity Pricing – Under what circumstances could it be an exercise of market power?
insights from recent case studies

In addition to the above activities, P&R undertook reviews of previous cases to assess conduct and outcomes following
Tribunal decisions. These included reviews of the Trident/Baldwins Steel merger, in which efficiencies played a big role in the
decision and the Astral/Natchix merger where a divestiture of an animal feed operation was ordered.
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Standing: Busi Molefe, Itebogeng Palare, Mulalo Shandukani, Zibuyile Jafta, Tebello Sello
Seated: Mziwodumo Rubushe, Nandi Mokoena, Keitumetse Letebele and Andile Mangisa
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Strategy and stakeholder relations
Overview
During the year under review, the Commission underwent
internal restructuring to better align its structure with
its strategy. As a consequence of this restructuring the
Compliance division was renamed the Strategy and
Stakeholder Relations (SSR) division and positioned to work
in conjunction with the Commissioner’s Office.
The SSR coordinates the Commission’s internal strategy,
manages the Commission’s stakeholder engagements
(including international stakeholders), conducts advocacy

and awareness (often through inter-divisional teams)
and performs the Commission’s internal and external
communication function.
Nandi Mokoena was appointed as the manager of SSR with
effect from 24 November 2008.

Activities: stakeholder relations
Table 5 below briefly sets out some of the highlights of the
stakeholder interactions the Commission had.

Table 5: Stakeholders targeted by the Commission
Target group

Nature of interactions

Government

•

2nd Public sector consultative forum (PSCF)

•

Bid-rigging workshop to train government officials to identify anti-competitive behaviour in the
bidding process. Attended by 32 senior government procurement practitioners
Bid-rigging presentation to National Treasury
Established joint working committees with the Office of Consumer Protection and the
Department of Agriculture

•
•
Competition lawyers

•
•

Trade unions

•
•
•
•

Professional
associations

•

•
•

2 presentations to the Black Lawyers Association. 15 lawyers attended the workshops, which
were held in Johannesburg and Cape Town
1 meeting with the Competition Committee
Two-day training workshop to 150 trade union officials
National trade union workshop attended by 50 officials
Provincial trade union workshops in Western Cape and Eastern Cape. Attended by 70
delegates
Training on the Act to the National Union of Metal Workers of South Africa, in Gauteng.
Attended by 308 participants
Interactions with the Council for Built Environment, Department of Transport, Office of
the Executive Mayor of Tshwane and the DTI on reserved work and tariff fees in the built
environment, tenders, and the South African tea resuscitation strategy
Presentations to Financial Intelligence Commission and Teba Bank
Presentation to the MPO at the Dairy Development Initiative in the Western Cape
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Target group

Nature of interactions

National Prosecuting
Authority and the
South African Police
Service

•

Interactions concerning the Competition Amendment Bill

Small and medium
sized enterprises

•

13 workshops for small and medium enterprises (SMEs) in Mpumalanga, North West and
Northern Cape. Reached 340 SMEs
3 exhibitions, in the North West and Gauteng, reaching 433 SMEs
I franchise exhibition
Hubs Career Expo and Exhibition, reaching 47 participants

•
•
•
Consumers
and consumer
organisations

•
•
•
•

Institutions of higher
learning

•

2 presentations to Black Sash consumer workshops in Eastern Cape and Western Cape.
Attended by 91 delegates
9 consumer workshops in the Free State, KwaZulu-Natal, North West and Gauteng, which
reached a total of 905 consumers
Consumer exhibition held in Limpopo province and reaching 92 consumers
Member of the Consumer Protection Forum – a forum that communicates consumer issues
and strategies
Presented workshops at Rhodes University in the Eastern Cape and First Choice Varsity
College in KwaZulu-Natal. The workshops were attended by total of 150 students from the
economics and law faculties

Pan African Parliament •

Presentation to the finance and monetary affairs committee of the Pan African Parliament

Government of
Southern Sudan

•

Presentation to the officials of the government of Southern Sudan as part of a study tour
organised by Unisa’s Centre for African Renaissance and the Department of Foreign Affairs

Lesotho

•

Presentation to Lesotho government officials on the benefits of competition legislation for
consumers

The Organisation for
Contributed the following papers to the OECD:
Economic Cooperation • Bundled discounts and single product loyalty discounts
and Development
• Bid-rigging in public procurement
• Competition issues in the construction industry
• Market studies
• Competition policy, industrial policy and national champions
• Challenges faced by young competition authorities
• The role of competition authorities in the management of economic crises
The International
Competition Network

Active in the following working groups of the ICN:
• Advocacy
• Merger
• Cartel
• Unilateral Conduct
• Competition Policy Implementation
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Target group

Nature of interactions

Southern African
Development
Community

•

•
United Nations
Conference on Trade
and Development

•

Participated in the Southern African Development Community (SADC) meeting where
Commission presented talks on competition policy in developing countries, and cases with
cross-border effects
Hosted delegations from Zambia and Swaziland and provided technical assistance where
required
Participated in the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development concerning
competition policy. The Commission contributed information and guidelines regarding the
importance of independence and accountability of competition authorities.

Box 3. Increased efforts to reach business stakeholders
With the expected implementation of the Competition Amendment Bill and the greater focus on eradicating cartels, the
Commission increased its efforts to communicate with directors and managers in large corporate during this financial year.
To this end it hosted a series of business breakfasts, some of which took place subsequent to the reporting period. The
series started with a business breakfast meeting at the Johannesburg Stock Exchange Auditorium on 2 March 2009. The
Commission’s objective was to set out directors’ responsibilities given the possible introduction of personal criminal liability
should the Competition Amendment Bill be passed in its current form.
During these meetings, the Commission appraised business of the possible amendments and updated them on the
Commission’s leniency policy. Further business breakfasts took place in other provinces, with a total of 153 directors being
reached.
In addition to the above interactions with business, the Commission:
• presented to the IQPC Mining Conference on competition Law.
• presented to Vunani Securities (Pty) Ltd, Legae Securities (Pty) Ltd and Barnard Jacobs Mellet Securities (Pty) Ltd on the
Act and cases in various sectors.
• engaged with the Estate Agents Affairs Board, as it has done since 2006 through workshops and seminars.
• presented to the Free State branch of the Estate Agents Association of South Africa to raise awareness about competition
issues in the sector.
• participated in a two-day big business conference and exhibition, hosted by the Cape Media Corporation under the theme
Tomorrow’s Leaders, to raise awareness about the Act.
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Table 6: Publications issued and distributed in the financial
year

Activities: communication
Media relations

Publication

The Commission has continued to capture public interest
and receive extensive media coverage. During the period
under review, it issued 28 media releases and held a media
conference to release the banking enquiry report. High profile
cases that received media scrutiny included the bread cartel,
the probe into the construction industry, the milk cartel and
the banking enquiry report.
Figure 7: Media coverage by month from April 2008 – March
2009
Broadcast media

Print media
139

Mar-09

234
183

Feb-09

285

Jan-09
133

Dec-09
Nov-09
Oct-09
Sep-09
Aug-09
Jul-09

96

Competition News

8,000

Annual Reports

1,800

Pocket Act

2,000

Consumer Guide

2,000

Pocket Guide

2,000

Internal communication
During the period under review, the communications
department produced and circulated 12 electronic
newsletters (Newsflash) and created opportunities for
information sharing by organising 17 Kom Praat Saam
(discussion forums). In a further effort to boost morale and
recognise staff commitment and hard work, the department
organised 10 happy hours, an award ceremony and two
commemorative events.

171

101

227
216

84

194
120

207
263

399
327
327

Jun-09

322
300

May-09
Apr-09

457

340

Number printed

267

469

Source: Newsclip Media Monitoring
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Seated: Bellah Kekana, Binu Idiculla, Nellie Pillay, Charlie Ndlovu, Karen Hudson and Joe Phele
Standing first row: Tshepiso Diremelo, Nicole Gounder, Layla Sadick, Haschendri Sooboo,
Nadia Legwai, Caroline Legwai, Johanna Mncwanga, Pinky Nxumalo and Kelebogile Mekoa
Standing back row: Nomsa Zilindile, Elmarie Wiehahn, Leon Rossouw, Alet Aucamp, Tsholofelo Sebiloane,
Suzan Kganyago, Bonolo Suping, Abram Tiro, Rhime Letsoalo and Wilfred Steenkamp
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Corporate services
Overview
The Corporate Services division (CSD) provides corporate
service support to the Commission, including finance,
security, procurement, human resources, IT, and training and
development services.
Nellie Pillay is the Chief financial officer and manager of
CSD.

Human resources
The Human Resources (HR) department is responsible for
the needs of the organisation in relation to:
• Staffing and recruitment
• Retention of staff
• Learning and development
• Employee relations
• Employee wellbeing

During the year under review the Commission witnessed
an improvement in the job satisfaction levels of staff as
well as a significant reduction in staff turnover (16 percent)
compared to the previous year (26 percent). In line with the
improvement in job satisfaction, the Commission won the
2008 Best Company to Work For survey award in its industry
sector.

Human capital
As at year end, the Commission’s staff complement was
132. This number includes the 18 graduates whom the
organisation has employed as part of its Graduate Training
Programme. When compared to the 116 employees
employed as at year end 2007/08, it is evident that the
Commission has grown its human capital over the past
financial year.

The department undertook initiatives aimed at increasing
staff morale and motivation such as reviewing all HR policies
and combining it into a best-practice HR Manual for the
Commission.
Specific emphasis was placed on the Commission’s
Performance Management System, which the department
successfully revised and implemented. The system aims to
achieve alignment between the Commission’s business plan
objectives and individual performance. It also rewards staff
accordingly after assessments are done.
Staff meetings are held once a month wherein speakers
are invited to address staff on topics of interest. The staff
meetings have become a valuable forum for management
and staff to communicate on important topics of interest.
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Table 7: Commission staff as at 31 March 2009

Category

Mergers &
Enforcement
Legal
Policy &
Acquisitions & Exemptions Services Compliance Research

Corporate
Services

Commissioner’s
Office
Total

Technical
staff (lawyers
& economics)

10

12

9

5

11

17

2

66

Admin &
management

8

7

7

4

4

7

3

40

Consultants

0

1

0

0

0

6

0

7

Graduate
trainees

6

3

4

1

3

2

0

19

Total staff

24

23

20

10

18

32

5

132

Figure 8: Staff profile as a percentage of total staff, as at 31
March 2009
•

15%
30%
5%

Management &
Administrators
Technical staff
Consultants
Graduate trainees

50%

Learning and development
The Commission intends to establish itself as a learning
organisation. To retain and nurture the best quality personnel,
capacity building as well as personal development and
growth are encouraged. The return on this investment
includes commitment from staff as well as a professional,
highly skilled and highly competent workforce.
Successes in the area of learning & development for the
period under review include:
• the development of a Learning & Development Strategic
Framework document which outlines the various learning
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•
•
•
•

and development initiatives the organisation offers mainly
in the areas of competition law and economics
further refinement of the Graduate Trainee Programme,
which includes a set curriculum, professional coaching
programme and assessment battery
the adoption of a sabbatical policy
the introduction of a Junior Professional Development
Programme
the introduction of a Master’s Degree bursary scheme
the development of a Management Development
Programme has commenced aimed at equipping
middle management with the necessary skills required
in a supervisory capacity. The programme will be
implemented in the next financial year

Remuneration
In support of the strategic objectives and focus of the
organisation, the HR department developed a Reward
Framework and Remuneration Policy that determines
and explains the Commission’s remuneration and reward
offerings.

At the time of printing, the Commission was awaiting
approval from National Treasury for the implementation of a
pay benchmarking system wherein the organisation would
align its salary bands to those of the public sector. The
benchmarking system is expected to aid staff retention and to
ensure that staff members receive market related salaries.

Employee wellbeing
At no cost to employees, the Commission provides a
comprehensive wellbeing programme to employees through
the Independent Counselling and Advisory Service. Staff
members are continuously encouraged to make use of
the service, which offers a toll free helpline, telephonic
assistance and free counselling sessions on a variety of
matters.
A successful Health Day is hosted annually in conjunction
with the Commission’s medical aid service provider. More
than 80 staff members attended the 2008 Health Day
and had health screenings done. HIV/AIDS initiatives are
continually supported by the Commission and during 2008/09
numerous health experts visited the Commission to assist
staff with various health matters.

Employee relations
The Commission’s disciplinary and grievance policies are
designed to settle labour matters amicably as far as possible.
Since 2008 no union has had majority representation
within the Commission. As at year-end, the Commission
had a dispute pending at the Commission for Conciliation,
Mediation and Arbitration (CCMA) regarding an unfair
labour practice matter that resulted from the dismissal of an
employee towards the end of 2007.

Apart from the CCMA matter, other disciplinary actions
instituted during the year include:
Number

Reason

Grievance

Action taken

1

Leave not granted

Verbal warning

2

Misconduct

Written warning

4

Misconduct

Disciplinary enquiry

0

-

Information technology
The Commission’s IT system management team is
responsible for managing, maintaining and supporting
internal IT services and networks. Key areas of responsibility
include managing and maintaining various internal networks,
consultation and procurement of IT services and supplies,
providing in-house IT support to staff, and maintaining IT
security standards including data continuity and integrity. The
IT department provides a secure, user friendly and efficient IT
environment for employees.
A major highlight of 2008/09 for the IT team was working with
the knowledge management team to develop the knowledge
management system. All necessary technical requirements
such as planning, procuring and configuring of servers,
storage area networks and procurement of software were
completed in the year.
The case management system was improved; it can now
index all pdf documents as searchable documents.
As a social responsibility project, the IT team donated 80
used computers to schools in the North West, Limpopo,
Eastern Cape, Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal provinces. The
team adopted one under privileged school in the eastern
part of Gauteng and installed a complete IT network that
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boasts 15 computers, projectors and other IT equipment. The
teachers were also trained on how to use the computers in
order to educate the students.

During 2008/09 the Commission performed various security
related functions including the routine debugging of offices,
management of access control to the building and security
vetting. The Commission completed 43 record checks and
submitted 45 vetting forms to the National Intelligence
Agency.
Audits are held annually to assess whether safety
measures are in place at the Commission with respect to
water purification, environment, lighting, air pollution and
occupational health and safety issues and these audits were
undertaken accordingly, during the year under review.

Registry
The total number of new cases registered, scanned, filed and
archived decreased by 35.6 percent, from 750 in the previous
year to 483 in this financial year.
In compliance with the Promotion of Access to Information
Act, Registry made the records of 24 cases available to the
public. The average turnaround time to meet a request for
information was two business days. There were no instances
where access was denied because of the confidential or
restricted nature of the information.

Security and facilities management
A key project during the year under review was the relocation
of the CSD to Block E on the DTI campus. The increasing
staff complement placed, and continues to place, pressure on
the Commission for additional office space.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Structures and decision-making
The Competition Commission
The powers of the Commission are vested in the
Commissioner who, as chief executive officer, is responsible
to the Minister of Trade and Industry. The Commissioner is
responsible for the general administration of the Commission
and for performing any functions assigned to it in terms of the
Competition Act.
As part of the Commission’s strategic planning the
governance structure of the Commission was reviewed.
Whereas previously an executive committee, meeting
weekly, advised the Commissioners on decisions, the revised
structure put into place weekly commissioner meetings to
take case decisions and monthly Exco meetings to decide
on administrative, human resources and financial issues.
This is in keeping with the provisions in the Act that gives
the commissioners the authority to take case decisions. The
Commissioners’ meeting however are attended by divisional
managers and if necessary, case teams, who advise the
commissioners.

Oversight responsibilities
The audit committee
The audit committee, established in March 2000, supports
the Commission’s executive committee in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities relating to internal controls, risk
management, financial management and compliance with
laws and regulations.
An independent non-executive member chairs the committee
and both the internal and external auditors have unrestricted
access to the committee. The audit committee held five

52 Competition Commission South Africa - Annual Report 2008/09

meetings in the reporting period. It reviewed quarterly
internal audit reports, internal and external audit plans, the
risk assessment plan and financial statements for the period
ending 31 March 2009.
Until July 2008, the audit committee was chaired by Nonku
Tshombe who retired as a member of the committee on 21
July 2008. Jeff Rapoo acted in the role of chairperson from
July 2008 until March 2009 when he was formally appointed
as chairperson. Other members of the committee are Jocelyn
Armstrong, Maleshini Naidoo, Herman de Jager and Victor
Nondabula. The Commission is represented by Johan
Dreyer.

Internal auditors
The internal auditing function for the Commission is
outsourced, and in the period under review was carried out
by Ngubane & Co. During the internal audit process they
provided eight reports covering the following areas:
• Registry
• Human Resource Management
• IT Systems
• Finances
• Performance information
• Enforcement and Exemption division
• Policy and Research division
• Merger and Acquisition division

Internal financial controls
The Commission has policies, procedures and systems
designed to provide reasonable assurance of the integrity
and reliability of its financial statements, and to adequately
protect, verify and maintain accountability for its assets.
These internal financial controls are implemented by qualified
and trained personnel within a system characterised by

checks and balances. The effectiveness of internal financial
controls is monitored by Commission management, as well
as by the internal auditors. All significant findings are reported
to the audit committee and Commissioner.
The Commissioner and the external and internal auditors
are not aware of any material breakdown in the functioning
of these internal controls and systems in the period under
review.

•

Risk management

The Commission submitted the annual training report and the
annual workplace skills plan in June 2008.

With the assistance of the internal auditors, management
is responsible for proactively identifying, evaluating, and
managing and monitoring all significant risks faced by the
Commission. Some of the significant risks to which the Commission was exposed in the period under review include
operational, technological and regulatory risks.
A revised risk management strategy was drawn up during
2008 with a view to safeguarding the Commission’s staff,
assets, corporate credibility and reputation.

•
•

Quarterly reports on the Commission’s expenditure,
budget variance, activities and performance against set
targets
Monthly expenditure reports
Strategic plan and budget for the three year period 2008
to 2011.

Skills Development Act, 1998

Skills Development Levies Act, 1999
A skills development levy equal to 1 percent of the total
payroll is paid monthly to the South African Revenue Service.
The Commission’s contribution to the skills levy fund was
R383,862.00 The Commission was refunded R109,268.68
as a skills grant for its training interventions during the period
under review.

Employment Equity Act, 1998

Compliance with legislation
Public Finance Management Act, 1999, and
Treasury Regulations
In accordance with the PFMA and Treasury regulations,
the Commission submitted the following documents to the
Department of Trade and Industry for approval in the period
under review:
• Memorandum of agreement with the Department of
Trade and Industry
• Request to retain surpluses generated as at 31 March
2008

Because the Commission has fewer than 150 employees,
it is obliged to submit an employment equity report every
alternate year. The Employment Equity report was submitted
in October 2008, and the next one is due in October 2010.

Compensation for Occupational Injuries and
Diseases Act, 1993
A return of earnings was submitted in March 2008. This
provides an estimate cost of possible claims that can be
lodged against the Compensation Fund in terms of this Act.
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Unemployment Insurance Act, 2001
For the period under review all contributions to the
Unemployment Insurance Fund were paid over on a
monthly basis. These contributions consist of an employee
contribution of 1 percent and an employer contribution of 1
percent, capped at a maximum of R124.78.

Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993
During the year under review the Commission took
all reasonable precautions to ensure a safe working
environment and conducted its business with due regard for
environmental issues.

Income Tax Act, 1962
The South African Revenue Service exempted the
Commission in terms of section 10(1)(A)(i) of the Income Tax
Act, 1962.

Levies and taxes
The Commission has registered for, and met its obligations in
relation to the following levies and taxes:
• Skills development levy
• Workmen’s compensation
• Unemployment Insurance Fund
• Pay-as-you-earn (PAYE).
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ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
The Accounting Authority is required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), to maintain adequate
accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial
information included in this report. It is the responsibility of the Accounting Authority to ensure that the annual financial
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations
and cash flows for the period then ended. The external auditors are responsible for reporting on the fair presentation of the
annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, and in
accordance with the prescribed Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting
Standards Board replacing the equivalent SA GAAP Statement as follows:
Standard of GRAP

Replaced Statement of SA GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements

AC 101: Presentation of financial statements

GRAP 2: Cash flow statements

AC 118: Cash flow statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors

AC 103: Accounting policies, changes in estimates and
errors

		
The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Accounting Authority has no reason
to believe that the Commission will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts and available cash
resources. These financial statements support the viability of the Commission.
The external auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the entity’s annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements have been examined by the entity’s external auditors and their report is presented on page
62-65.
The annual financial statements set out on page 72-101, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the accounting authority:

Mr. M. Ramburuth
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 55 (1)(b) of the PFMA and
Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) and (c).

Audit committee members and attendance
The Audit Committee of the Competition Commission (the “Committee”) consists of the members listed hereunder and is
required to meet 4 times per annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the year under review 5 meetings were held.

Name of member

Number of
meetings
attended

Number of
possible
meetings

N. Tshombe (Chairperson) (resigned 21 July 2008)

Non-Executive

2

2

J. Armstrong (resigned 11 March 2009)

Non-Executive

1

5

J. Rapoo (Chairperson from March 2009 – acting from July 2008)

Non-Executive

5

5

M. Naidoo

Non-Executive

3

5

Prof. H. de Jager (appointed 30 September 2008)

Non-Executive

2

3

V. Nondobula (appointed 30 September 2008)

Non-Executive

2

3

Executive

5

5

J. Dreyer (Company Secretary)

The Committee’s meetings have regularly included the internal auditors and representatives from the Auditor General’s Office.

Audit committee responsibility
We report that we have adopted appropriate formal terms of reference in our charter in line with the requirements of Section
51(1) (a) of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1. We further report that we have conducted our affairs in compliance with
this charter.

The effectiveness of internal control
The system of internal control applied by the entity over financial and risk management is effective, efficient and transparent.
In line with the PFMA and the King II Report on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides the Audit
Committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This is achieved by
means of the risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to
the controls and processes. From the various reports of the Internal Auditors, the draft Audit Report on the Annual Financial
Statements and the interim management report of the Auditor-General South Africa, it was noted that no matters were
reported that indicate any material deficiencies in the system of internal control or any deviations there from. Accordingly, we
can report that the system of internal control over financial reporting for the period under review was efficient and effective.
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The quality of in year management and monthly/quarterly reports submitted in
terms of the PFMA
We are satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by the head of the unit
during the year under review.

Evaluation of annual financial statements
We have:
• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report, with the AuditorGeneral South Africa and the Accounting Authority.
• Reviewed the Auditor-General South Africa’s management report and management’s response thereto.
• Reviewed the compliance with legal and regulatory provisions.
• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.
We concur with and accept the Auditor-General South Africa’s report on the annual financial statements, and are of the
opinion that the audited annual financial statements should be accepted read together with the report of the Auditor-General
South Africa.

Internal audit
We are satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has addressed the risks pertinent to the
entity in its audits.

Auditor-General South Africa
We have met with the Auditor-General South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues.

Chairperson of the Audit Committee
31 July 2009
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL
Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the financial
statements and performance information of the Competition
Commission for the year ended 31 March 2009
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Competition Commission which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2009, and the statement of financial performance, the statement of changes in net assets
and the cash flow statement for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes, and the accounting authority’s report, as set out on pages 72 to 101.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements
2. The Accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair representation of these financial statements in
accordance with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1 to the
financial statements and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA)
and the Competition Act, 1998 (Act No. 89 of 1998) and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

The Auditor-General’s responsibility
3. As required by section 188 of the constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit
Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and section 40(10) of the Competition Act, 1998, my responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.
4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing read with General Notice 616 of 2008,
issued in Government Gazette No. 31507 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
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used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion

Opinion
7. In my opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Competition
Commission as at 31 March 2009 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance
with the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in the accounting policy note 1 to the financial
statements and in the manner required by the PFMA.

Basis of accounting
8. Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to note 1 to the financial statements, which prescribes the accounting policy.
The public entity’s policy is to prepare financial statements on the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury.

Other matters
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my responsibilities in the audit of the
financial statements:

Governance framework
9. The governance principles that impact the auditor’s opinion on the financial statements are related to the responsibilities
and practices exercised by the accounting authority and executive management and are reflected in the key governance
responsibilities address below:

Key governance requirements
10. The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a number of responsibilities concerning financial and risk management
and internal control. Fundamental to achieving this is the implementation of key governance responsibilities, which I have
assessed as follows:
No. Matter
Clear trail of supporting documentation that is easily available and provided in a timely manner
No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the availability of requested
1.
information.
Quality of financial statements and related management information
2.
The financial statements were not subject to any material amendments resulting from the audit.

Y

N
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No. Matter
3.
The annual report was submitted for consideration prior to the tabling of the auditor’s report.
Timeliness of financial statements and management information
The annual financial statements were submitted for auditing as per the legislated deadlines (section 55 of
4.
the PFMA).
Availability of key officials during audit
5.
Key officials were available throughout the audit process.
Development and compliance with risk management, effective internal control and governance practices
6.
Audit committee
The public entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year.
The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference.
The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in section 77 of the
PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.
7.
Internal audit
The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial year.
The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan.
The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in Treasury
Regulation 27.2.
There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of
8.
financial and risk management.
There are no significant deficiencies in the design and implementation of internal control in respect of
9.
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
10.
The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of the financial statements.
A risk assessment was conducted on a regular basis and a risk management strategy, which includes a
11.
fraud prevention plan, is documented and used as set out in Treasury Regulation 27.2.
12.
Powers and duties have been assigned, as set out in section 56 of the PFMA.
Follow-up of audit findings
13.
The prior year audit findings have been substantially addressed.
Issues relating to the reporting of performance information
The information systems were appropriate to facilitate the preparation of a performance report that is
14.
accurate and complete.
Adequate control processes and procedures are designed and implemented to ensure the accuracy and
15.
completeness of reported performance information.

Y



















16.

A strategic plan was prepared and approved for the financial year under review for purposes of monitoring
the performance in relation to the budget and delivery by the Competition Commission against its mandate,
predetermined objectives, outputs, indicators and targets (Treasury Regulation 30.1).



17.

There is a functioning performance management system and performance bonuses are only paid after
proper assessment and approval by those charged with governance.



11. The misstatements corrected by management on the financial statements were not detected timeously.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
Report on performance information
12. I have reviewed the performance information as set out on pages 104 to 113.

The accounting authority’s responsibility for the performance information
13. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the
annual report and audited financial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives of the
public entity.

The Auditor-Generals’s responsibility
14. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the PAA read with General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in
Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008.
15. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of a review nature to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The
procedures selected depended on the auditor’s judgement.
16. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to report that no significant findings have been
identified as a result of my review.

APPRECIATION
17. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Competition Commission during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Pretoria
31 August 2009
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ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY’S REPORT
Report by the Accounting Authority to the Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

1.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Commission derives its mandate from the Competition Act No. 89 of 1998, as amended. The main objectives, as
determined by the Competition Act, are the following:
• Promote efficiency, adaptability and development of the economy;
• Provide consumers with competitive prices and product choices;
• To promote employment, and advance social and economic welfare of South Africans;
• To expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets and recognise the role of foreign competition in
the Republic;
• To ensure that small and medium sized enterprises have an equitable opportunity to participate in the economy; and
• To promote the greater spread of ownership, in particular to increase the ownership stakes of historically disadvantaged
persons.

2.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW/PERFORMANCE

2.1. Financial highlights
2009
R’000

2008
R’000

94,719

80,907

Interest received

4,526

4,982

Total revenue
Expenditure
Net deficit

99,254

85,889

110,638

91,671

(11,393)

(5,782)

Total assets

37,826

48,676

Total liabilities

16,609

16,066

415

507

Notes
Revenue

No. of merger cases filed
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2.2. Total revenue
Total revenue increased from R81 million in 2008 to R95 million in 2009. Income from the grant increased by 90% from R23,2
million in 2008 to R44 million in 2009 whilst income from filing fees reduced by 12,4% from R55,7 million in 2008 to R48,8
million in 2009. Merger cases filed during the year decreased by 18% to 415 (2008: 507).
Interest earned on temporarily available funds decreased by 9,2% and other income received due to repayment of study
loans as well as a refund from SASSETA decreased by 48,9%.

2.3 Expenditure
Expenditure increased from R92 million in 2008 to R111 million in 2009 reflecting an overall increase of 20%. This amounted
to the Commission spending 86% of its budgeted expenditure. The increase in expenditure was as a result of the growing
staff numbers within the Commission to assist with the increased enforcement activity, and the commensurate increase in
litigation and consulting fees due to the complexity of cases.

2.4 Financial performance
The Commission generated a deficit of R11,4 million (2008: R5,7 million deficit) for the current year. The costs of running
the Commission are increasing annually due to increased activity resulting in an increase in the demand for human resource
capacity.
The Commission has submitted an application to National Treasury to retain their surplus of R21,2 million (R18,2 million after
expenditure on fixed assets) for the current financial year.
The approved grant funding from government for the year 2009/10 amounting to R67,7 million, income from filing fees plus
any accumulated surplus that the Commission is allowed to retain will ensure that the Commission is able to continue as a
going concern.
The Commission has submitted a revised structure proposal to the Minister of Trade and Industry for approval and if
approved will be submitting a revised budget in September 2009 for consideration for extra funding to cover shortfalls that
may arise out of the restructuring.
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3.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The composition of the current executive committee during the period under review is as follows
			
Name

Title

Mr. M. Ramburuth

Commissioner

Mr. T. Bonakele

Deputy Commissioner (Appointed 1 November 2008)

Mr. J. Dreyer

Commission Secretary

Mr. S. Roberts

Manager: Policy & Research and Acting Manager Enforcement and Exemptions
(November 2008 to April 2009)

Ms. N. Pillay

Manager: Corporate Services and CFO

Ms. W. Mkwananzi

Manager: Legal Service (Appointed 16 September 2008, Acting Manager 15 May 2008 to
15 September 2008)

Ms. N. Mokoena

Manager: Strategic and Stakeholder Relations (Previously Compliance division)
(Appointed 24 November 2008)

Mr. M. van Hoven

Manager: Mergers & Acquisitions (Appointed 12 January 2009)

Members who served on the Executive during the period under review and resigned are as follows:
Name

Title

Mr. T. Kunene

Manager: Enforcement & Exemptions and Acting Deputy Commissioner from July 2006 –
Resigned October 2008

Mr. M. Worsley

Manager: Legal Services – Resigned May 2008

			

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
The table below shows total annual remuneration (cost to company) received by managers who have served on the executive
committee at some point during the period under review. The Commission is responsible for its employees’ contributions
to group life insurance as well as for the administration costs associated with the pension fund. These figures have been
included in the total remuneration and disclosed as other as has any cell phone allowance received.
Performance bonuses for staff members are payable for the year ending March 2009. These have been accrued for the
period and are reflected in the table below. These amounts are included in trade payables and reflected as accrued bonus in
note 17: Trade and other payables in the notes to the annual financial statements.
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A provision for the Commissioner’s performance bonus for the period ending March 2009 has been raised in the Annual
Financial Statements. The Commissioner is only entitled to a performance bonus on the finalisation of the performance
assessment by the Minister, Trade and Industry. The provision is included in provisions under note 16; Provision in the notes to
the annual financial statements.
An amount of R79,000 reflected in the table below was paid out to the Commissioner in respect of performance bonus for the
period ending March 2008.

Member
Commissioner – M. Ramburuth

Remuneration
2009
R’000

Remuneration
2008
R’000

1,075

885

959

850

Performance bonus

79

-

Other

37

35

Package

Deputy Commissioner – T. Bonakele (Current year Includes
Manager: Mergers & Acquisitions for 7 months)

919

801

Package

777

678

Performance bonus

113

94

29

29

Commission Secretary – J. Dreyer

727

670

Package

Other

626

572

Performance bonus

78

76

Other

23

22

1,005

827

Manager Policy & Research – S. Roberts (Current year includes
acting allowance for 5 months – year 2008/09)
Package

832

698

Performance bonus

144

100

29

29

Manager Corporate Service and CFO – N. Pillay

901

763

Package

770

681

Performance bonus

103

63

Other

28

19

Manager Legal Services – W. Mkwananzi
(6 months – acting 3 months)

Other

770

-

Package

641

-

Performance bonus

104

-

25

-

Other
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Member

Remuneration
2009
R’000

Remuneration
2008
R’000

Manager Strategy and Stakeholder Relations – N. Mokoena
(5 months)

728

-

Package

608

-

Performance bonus

96

-

Other

24

-

Manager: Mergers & Acquisitions – M. van Hoven (current year 3
months)

158

-

Package

151

-

7

-

Acting Manager: Compliance – M. Rubushe
(Current year 7 months)

377

543

Package

364

467

-

56

13

20

Manager: Enforcements and exemptions – T. Kunene
(Current year 7 months)

600

950

Package

584

802

-

121

16

27

Manager: Legal services – M. Worsley
(Current year 2 months)

157

784

Package

Other

Performance bonus
Other

Performance bonus
Other

152

669

Performance bonus

-

86

Other

5

29

4.

CHANGES IN NATURE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

No major changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment or changes in the policy relating to the use of property, plant and
equipment took place during the year under review. Changes regarding the estimated useful life of the asset have been taken into
account in the calculation of the depreciation values of the asset. Computer equipment no in use and with a zero net value has been
donated and all assets broken and in disrepair has been disposed off. The net impairment cost of assets disposed was R75,311.
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5.

MATERIALITY FRAMEWORK

The Commission determined a planning materiality figure of R368,830 for the year under review. The Commission’s business
is such that it is not capital intensive and revenue was regarded as the best indicator of business activity and therefore 1% of
budgeted fee income was used in determining the materiality figure.
Material facts and losses of a quantitative nature are disclosed when the materiality figure is exceeded, or if they arose through
criminal conduct, irregular/fruitless and wasteful expenditure.
Disposal of significant assets when overall operational functions of the Commission changes, are disclosed.

6.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

No events took place between the year end date (31 March 2009) and the date on which the financial statements were signed
that were sufficiently material to warrant disclosure to interested parties.

7.

COMMISSION SECRETARY

The details of the Commission’s secretary are as follows:

Mr. Johan Dreyer
Business address

Postal address

Telephone
Fax
Email address

The DTI campus
Building C: Mulayo
77 Meintjies Street
Sunnyside
TSHWANE
Private Bag X23
Lynnwood Ridge
0040
TSHWANE
+27 12 3943336
+27 12 3944336
JohanD@compcom.co.za

8.

ADDRESS

The Commission’s registered offices are situated at

Postal address

Telephone
Fax
Email address
Web address

The DTI campus
Building C: Mulayo
77 Meintjies Street
Sunnyside
TSHWANE
Private Bag X23
Lynnwood Ridge
0040
TSHWANE
+27 12 3943336
+27 12 3944336
JohanD@compcom.co.za
www.compcom.co.za

No changes occurred during the period under review.

Mr. M. Ramburuth
Accounting Authority

29 May 2009
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
for the year ended 31 March 2009

2008
R’000

Notes

2009
R’000

2

44,000

23,221

Fee income

3

50,506

57,312

Other income

5

183

374

30

-

94,719

80,907

Revenue
Government grants

Surplus on disposal of assets

Total revenue
Expenditure
Employee related costs

6

54,938

39,550

Administrative expenses

7

2,458

3,041

808

811

75

-

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Finance costs

8

25

54

Operating expenses

9

52,334

48,215

(110,638)

(91,671)

Total expenditure
Interest received

Deficit for the year
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Notes

2008
R’000

2009
R’000

Assets
Current assets
Consumables

55

-

Trade and other receivables

11

119

548

Cash and cash equivalents

12

32,658

54,222

32,832

45,770

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

13

3,461

2,567

Intangible assets

14

1,533

339

4,994

2,906

37,826

48,676

Total assets

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Finance lease obligation

15

23

258

Provisions

16

2,112

277

Trade and other payables

17

14,474

15,508

16,609

16,043

-

23

Total liabilities

16,609

16,065

Net assets

21,217

32,610

21,217

32,610

Non-current liabilities
Finance lease obligation

15

Net assets
Accumulated surplus
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Accumulated Surplus
Notes
R’000
Balance at 1 April, 2007

38,392

Total Net Assets
R’000
38,392

Changes in net assets
Deficit for the year

(5,782)

(5,782)

Total changes

(5,782)

(5,782)

Balance at 1 April, 2008

32,610

32,610

Deficit for the year

(11,393)

(11,393)

Total changes

(11,393)

(11,393)

Balance at 31 March, 2009

21,217

21,217

Changes in net assets
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Notes

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

95,086

81,765

(108,953)

(84,118)

(13,867)

(2,353)

4,526

4,982

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash used in operations

18

Interest income
Finance costs

(25)

Net cash from operating activities

(54)

(9,366)

2,575

(1,691)

(1,238)

Cash flows from investing activities
Addition of property, plant and equipment

13

Sale of property, plant and equipment

13

Addition of other intangible assets

14

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

228

-

(1,475)

(224)

(2,938)

(1,462)

(260)

(226)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease repayments

(12,564)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents
Cash at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

12

887

45,222

44,335

32,658

45,222
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.

Basis of preparation

a) Terminology differences:

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the measurement of certain
financial instruments at fair value, and include the following
principal accounting policies, which in all material aspects,
are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except
as otherwise indicated:
The annual financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the South African Statements of Generally
Accepted Accounting Practices (GAAP) including any
interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting
Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the
Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent GAAP
Statement as follows:
Standard of GRAP

Replaced Statement of
SA GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of
financial statements

AC 101: Presentation of
financial statements

GRAP 2: Cash flow
statements

AC 118: Cash flow
statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies,
changes in accounting
estimates and errors

AC 103: Accounting
policies, changes in
estimates and errors

Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the
above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in
material differences in items presented and disclosed in the
financial statements.
The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted in
the following changes in the presentation of the financial
statements:
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Standard of GRAP

Replaced Statement of
SA GAAP

Statement of financial
performance

Income statement

Statement of financial position Balance sheet
Statement of changes in net
assets

Statement of changes in
equity

Net assets

Equity

Surplus/deficit

Profit/loss

Accumulated surplus/deficit

Retained earnings

Contributions from owners

Share capital

Distributions to owners

Dividends

b) The cash flow statement can only be prepared in
accordance with the direct method.
c) Specific information has been presented separately on
the statement of financial position such as:
•
•
•

Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including
taxes and transfers;
Taxes and transfers payable;
Trade and other payables from non-exchange
transactions;

d) Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances
is required
Paragraph 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented
due the fact that the local and international budget reporting
standard is not effective for this financial year. Although
the inclusion of budget information would enhance the
usefulness of the financial statements, non-disclosure will not
affect the objective of the annual financial statements.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous
period.
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1.1

PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These financial statements are presented in South African
Rands.

1.2

REVENUE

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow and can be reliably measured.
Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration
receivable on an accrual basis. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised:

contravention of, or not in accordance with a requirement of
any applicable legislation including the PFMA.
The expenditure portion of any irregular expenditure is
charged against income and the capital portion of irregular
expenditure is charged against the related liability in the
period in which they are determined.

1.4

FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL 			
EXPENDITURE

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made
in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care
been exercised.

Filing fees
Revenue comprises of case notification fees and facility
charges received. Revenue from case notification fees is
recognised when the case is accepted by the Commission.
Facility fees are recognised on a monthly basis for services
rendered by the Commission for infrastructure usage by the
Competition Tribunal. Other income is recognised as and
when received.

The expenditure portion of any fruitless and wasteful
expenditure is charged against income and the capital portion
of irregular expenditure is charged against the related liability
in the period in which they are determined.

Government grant

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as an expense as they fall due.

Government grants are recognised in the year to which they
relate, once reasonable assurance has been obtained that
all conditions of the grants have been complied with and the
grant has been received.

Interest income
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective
interest rate.

Other income
Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

1.3

IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in

1.5

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension and post-retirement benefits

Payments made to industry managed (or state plans)
retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined
contribution plans where the entity’s obligation under
the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan.
The entity operates a defined contribution plan for all its
employees.
Contributions to the defined contribution plan are charged to
the statement of financial performance in the year to which
they relate.
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1.6

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated
on a straight line basis at rates considered appropriate to
reduce the cost of the assets less their residual value over
the estimated useful life. Useful life, depreciation policy and
residual value are reviewed annually.
The period over which various categories of assets are
depreciated is detailed below:
Item

Average useful life

Furniture and fixtures

10-14 years

Motor vehicles

5-7 years

Office equipment

5-11 years

IT equipment
• Computer Equipment

3-8 years

Leased Assets

Period of the lease

The residual value and the useful life of each asset is
reviewed at each financial period end.

1.7

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Computer software costs that exceed beyond one
year are recognised as intangible assets. These assets are
amortised from the date the asset is brought into use, using
the straight line method over their useful lives. The estimated
useful life of computer software is 3 years.
The useful lives of the assets are reviewed at each balance
sheet date and adjusted if appropriate. Computer software
has no residual value as the software is not resaleable.

1.8

LEASES

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease if
it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership.

Leased assets

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a
cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item
shall be depreciated separately.

Leases of assets are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in
surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount
of another asset.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower
at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are charged to surplus or deficit.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or deficit
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from
the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.
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Leases under which the lessor effectively retains the risks
and benefits of ownership are classified as operating leases.
Obligations incurred under operating leases are charged to
the statement of financial performance in equal instalments
over the period of the lease.

1.10

1.9

•

CONSUMABLES

Consumables are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.
Net realisable value for consumables is assumed to
approximate the cost price due to the relatively short period
that these assets are held in stock.
Consumables are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value on the first in first out basis.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
The cost of consumables comprises of all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
consumables to their present location and condition.
The cost of inventories is based on the first in first out (FIFO)
method and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
consumables and other costs incurred in bringing them to
their existing location and condition.
When consumables are donated or issued to other entities
for no cost/nominal values, consumables shall be measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:
•

•

the entity has a present obligation as a result of a past
event;
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
and
a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when,
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if
the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be
treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating deficits.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present
obligation under the contract shall be recognised and
measured as a provision.

1.11

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Classification
The Commission’s principal financial instruments are
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, payables and lease
liabilities.
Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial
recognition. Classification is re assessed on an annual
basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated
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as at fair value through surplus or deficit, which shall not
be classified out of the fair value through surplus or deficit
category.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised in the Commission’s
statements of financial position when the Commission
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of an
instrument.
Financial instruments are initially recognised using the trade
date accounting method.
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value
through surplus or deficit, loans and receivables or held to
maturity investment as appropriate. When financial assets
are initially recognised they are measured at fair value.
The Commission determines the classification of its financial
assets on initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re evaluates this designation at each financial
year end.

Impairment of financial assets
At each end of the reporting period the entity assesses all
financial assets, other than those at fair value through surplus
or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been
impaired.
Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.
Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in
the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount
of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is
reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would
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have been had the impairment not been recognised.
Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in surplus or
deficit except for equity investments classified as available
for sale.
Impairment losses are also not subsequently reversed for
available for sale equity investments which are held at cost
because fair value was not determinable.

Asset carried at amortised cost
In relation to receivables a provision for impairment is made
when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of
insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor)
that the Commission will not be able to collect all the
amounts due under the original terms of the invoice. The
carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use
of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised
when they are assessed as uncollectable.

Loans and other receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in surplus or deficit when the
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through
the amortisation process.
Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and
receivables.

Payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.
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After initial recognition, payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in surplus and deficit
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash at banks and on hand and cash
equivalents with an original maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined
above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at cost.

1.12

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CASH 			
GENERATING ASSETS

The entity assesses at each statement of financial position
date whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates
the recoverable amount of the asset.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in surplus or deficit. Any impairment loss of a
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.
An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for an asset is
reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the assets recoverable service amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. If this is the case, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
service amount. The increase is a reversal in impairment
loss. The increased carrying amount attributable to a reversal
of an impairment loss shall not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised in
prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment loss for an asset shall be
recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.
An impairment loss is tested using the depreciated
replacement cost approach.

The carrying amount of the Commission’s non-cash
generating assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment.
If any such indication then the assets recoverable service
amount is estimated. The recoverable service amount is the
higher of the non-cash generating assets’s fair value less the
costs to sell and its value in use.
When the recoverable service amount of an asset is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced
to its recoverable service amount. The reduction is an
impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes

2.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND
SUBSIDIES

Government grants and subsidies

44,000

23,221

Facility fee

1,688

1,602

Filing fees

48,818

55,710

50,506

57,312

4,526

4,982

183

374

3.

4.

FEE INCOME

INVESTMENT REVENUE

Interest revenue
Interest received

5.

OTHER INCOME

Conferences, skills levy refund and recoveries from insurance
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2009
R’000

2008
R’000

42,041

30,536

4,635

3,506

Cellphone allowance

579

480

Group life and pension admin

873

741

6,810

4,287

54,938

39,550

Annual remuneration

959

850

Performance bonus

79

-

Group life and pension administration costs

21

19

Cell phone allowance

16

16

1,075

885

5,354

4,567

Performance bonus

638

596

Group life and pension administration costs

112

94

80

81

6,184

5,338

Annual remuneration

35,728

24,378

Performance bonus

3,918

2,910

Group life and pension administration costs

740

628

Cell phone allowance

483

383

6,810

5,028

47,679

33,327

Notes

6.

EMPLOYEE RELATED COSTS

Basic
Performance bonus

Other

Accounting authority’s emoluments

Executive committee emoluments
Annual remuneration

Cell phone allowance

Other employees

Other staff related costs

Included in other costs are costs related to employment of graduate trainees, training and development, social events and
teambuilding, staff recruitment costs, employee assistance program, temporary staff costs and contributions to skills levy and
workman’s compensation.
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Notes

7.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENDITURE

General and administrative expenses

2,095

2,580

363

461

2,458

3,041

25

54

66

65

480

355

9,620

10,227

19,849

14,966

5,891

5,145

109

96

Travel and accommodation

2,447

2,869

Education and awareness

2,431

2,581

497

658

Fees paid to Tribunal

8,814

9,285

Other expenses

2,130

1,968

52,334

48,215

Auditors remuneration - External audit fees

8.

FINANCE COSTS

Leased assets (Photocopiers)

9.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Audit committee fees
Internal audit fees
Consulting and professional fees
Legal fees
Property rental
Research and development costs

Maintenance, repairs and running costs

Included in other expenses are costs related to catering,
security, storage, corporate gifts, subscriptions, books and
publications, software licences and upgrades.

10.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

There have been no adjustment to prior year figures.
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Notes

11.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

TRADE AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Trade debtors

99

456

Sundry debtors

20

91

119

547

2,823

2,138

29,830

43,082

5

2

32,658

45,222

12.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand
Short term deposits
Other cash and cash equivalents
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2008

2009
Cost/
valuation

13.

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

PROPERTY,
PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
1,924

(1,393)

531

2,173

(1,607)

566

Motor vehicles

Furniture and fixtures

442

(63)

379

326

(129)

197

Office equipment

718

(491)

227

1,057

(940)

117

3,719

(1,424)

2,295

4,582

(3,157)

1,425

701

(672)

29

701

(439)

262

7,504

(4,043)

3,461

8,839

(6,272)

2,567

IT equipment
Leased assets photocopiers

Total

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation Impairment
loss

Total

Reconciliation of
property, plant and
equipment - 2009
Furniture and fixtures

566

70

Motor vehicles

197

437

Office equipment

117

104

-

1,425

1,080

-

(203)

(7)

262

-

-

(233)

-

2,567

1,691

IT equipment
Leased assets photocopiers
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(196)

(196)

(37)

(68)

531

(59)

-

379

6

-

227

(526)

(75)

2,295
29
3,461
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Opening balance

Additions

Depreciation

Total

Reconciliation of
property, plant and
equipment - 2008
Furniture and fixtures

670

-

(104)

566

Motor vehicles

230

-

(33)

197

51

89

(23)

117

IT equipment

648

1,149

(372)

1,425

Leased assets photocopiers

496

-

(234)

262

2,095

1,238

(766)

2,567

Office equipment

Assets with zero values consisting of computer and office equipment and furniture and fittings with a cost price of
R2,719,217 were either donated or disposed due to redundancy and disrepair.
The Commission is leasing equipment under a finance lease. The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions.
The lease agreement can be extended at the end of the three year period for a further period.
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2008

2009
Cost/
valuation

14.

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying
value

(506)

1,533

Cost/
valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying
value

INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

Computer software

2,039

Opening balance

Additions

571

Amortisation

(232)

339

Total

Reconciliation of
intangible assets - 2009
Computer software

339

1,475

(281)

1,533

160

224

(45)

339

Reconciliation of
intangible assets - 2008
Computer software

The useful life of computer software still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year amounted to a reduction
of R25,669 in depreciation. There are no residual values in computer software as computer software is considered not to be
resaleable.
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Notes

15.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

23

304

23

304

FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATION

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year
Less: future finance charges

-

Present value of minimum lease payments

(23)

23

281

(23)

(258)

Present value of minimum lease payments due
- within one year
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

-

23

23

258

23

281

Obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased asset.

Opening
balance

16.

Additions

Utilised
during the
year

Reversed
during the
year

Total

PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions - 2009
Provision

277

2,112

-

277

(79)

(198)

2,112

Reconciliation of provisions - 2008
Provision

-

-

277

The provisions for the current year includes a provision for the Commissioner’s performance bonus for the year ending March
2009.
Also included is a provision for adjustments in salaries due to members effective January 2009 (excluding the Commissioner)
for pay benchmarking against DPSA salary bands. The Commission is awaiting final approval of the submission from
the Minister of Finance. The Minister of the DTI has approved the paybenchmarking. However this approval may only be
implemented with the concurrence of the Minister of Finance.
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Notes

17.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

7,035

10,647

Other payables

-

2

Leave due to employees

2,731

1,630

Accrued performance bonus

4,708

3,229

14,474

15,508

(11,393)

(5,782)

Performance bonus is the accrued amount due to employees
at 31 March 2009. Amount accrued was paid out in April 2009
and May 2009.

18.

CASH USED IN OPERATIONS

Deficit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation

808

Surplus on sale of assets

(30)

Interest received

(4,526)

811
(4,982)

Finance costs

25

54

Impairment deficit

75

-

1,835

277

Movements in provisions

Changes in working capital:
Consumables

(55)

Trade and other receivables

426

Trade and other payables
Deferred income/Unspent conditional grants and receipts

(1,032)
(13,867)
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529
6,757
(19)
(2,355)
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Notes

19.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

(1,691)

(1,238)

Acquisition of intangible assets: computer software

(1,475)

(224)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment

228
2,938

20.

(1,462)

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution plan
All employees are members of a defined contribution scheme administered by Sanlam Ltd. The scheme is currently invested
in investment policies underwritten by Metropolitan Life. As an insured fund, the Competition Commission Pension Fund
complies with regulation 28 of the Pension Funds Act of 1956.

21.

INCOME TAXATION EXEMPTION

The Commission is exempted from income tax in terms of Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.

22.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The useful life and residual value of assets still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year amounted to a
reduction of R550,310 in depreciation. The useful life of assets still in use were increased by 1 to 3 years.
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2009
R’000

2008
R’000

Up to 1 year

23

258

1 to 5 years

-

23

23

281

Notes

23.

RENTAL AND FINANCE LEASE
COMMITMENTS

Office rental
There is no lease agreement with the DTI. However premises
are rented from the DTI and rental payments are based
on amounts determined by the DTI including annual CPIX
changes.

Finance lease commitments
Photocopiers

The Commission is leasing equipment under a finance lease. The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions. The
lease agreement can be extended at the end of the three year period for a further period.

24.

CONTINGENCIES LIABILITIES

Accumulated surplus
The accumulated surplus of R21,217 million has been classified as a contingent liability at 31 March 2009 as the Competition
Commission had not yet received approval to retain the accumulated surplus. In terms of the PFMA Section 53 (3) entities
are not allowed to accumulate surpluses unless approved by National Treasury. A submission has been made to National
Treasury to retain the surplus of R21,217 million and the Competition Commission is awaiting approval. The Commission is
obliged to repay to National Treasury any amount of the surplus not granted for retention. The Commission is of the opinion
that National Treasury will grant the approval and therefore the Commission will not be required to repay this amount.

Litigations and claims
The Commission has no knowledge of any contingencies at date of the financial statements. However, the Commission
wishes to report that a former employee was suspended in September 2007 for fraud and subsequently found guilty of
gross insubordination by an independent Chairperson at a hearing and summarily dismissed. The former employee has
subsequently filed an unfair labour practice dispute with the CCMA and the case is currently in arbitration. At the time of
reporting the Commission has no knowledge of the outcome of the case.
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2009
R’000

2008
R’000

The Competition Tribunal

11

880

The Department of Trade and Industry

64

399

971

470

1,046

1,749

-

205

Notes

25.

RELATED PARTIES

Related party

Relationship

The Competition Tribunal

Public entity in National sphere

The Department of Trade
and Industry

National Department in National
sphere

The Department of Justice

National Department in National
sphere

SA Revenue Service

Public entity in National sphere

Compensation Fund

Public entity in National sphere

Related party balances
Amounts included in Trade Payables regarding
related parties

The Department of Justice and Constitutional Development

Amounts included in Trade Receivables regarding related
parties
The Department of Trade and Industry
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Notes

25.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Related party transactions
The Department of Trade and Industry
Government grant received

44,000

23,221

Rent paid

5,480

5,145

Telephone and internet costs paid

1,116

1,106

Amount due by the Department of Trade and Industry for the
maintenance of the case management system in prior year
set off against grant received in year 2009

(205)

205

The Competition Tribunal
Filing fees refunded

8,814

9,285

Facility Fee income received

1,688

1,602

115

306

17

88

2,068

2,199

9,855

7,397

46

238

144,680

154,263

Net employee costs recovered
Net administration costs recovered

Department of Justice
Counsel fees paid

SA Revenue Service
Payments in respect of PAYE, UIF and Skills Development
levy

Compensation Fund
Payment in respect of Workmen's Compensation

Penalties collected on behalf of related parties and
transferred to related parties
The Department of Trade and Industry
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Notes

26.

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Commissions financial
instruments are market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

Credit risk
The Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy
third parties. It is the Commission's policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivables balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the
Commission exposure to bad debts is not significant. The
maximum exposure is the carrying amounts as disclosed in
Note 11. There is no significant concentration of credit risk
within the Commission.
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial
assets of the Commission, which comprise cash and cash
equivalents, the Commission's exposure to credit risk arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The
Commission cash and cash equivalents are placed with high
credit quality financial institutions therefore the credit risk with
respect to cash and cash equivalents is limited.

Exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
from financial assets was:
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables

Total

32,658

45,222

119

548

32,777

45,770
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AAA and
government
R’000

26.

Unrated
R’000

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Concentration of credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at
the reporting date by credit rating category was as follows:

2009
Cash and cash equivalents

32,659

-

-

119

45,222

-

205

342

Other receivables

2008
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables

Ageing of financial assets
The following table provides information regarding the credit
quality of assets which may expose the Commission to credit
risk:

Neither
past
due nor
impaired

Past due Past due
but not
but not
impaired - impaired less than more than
2 months 2 months

Carrying
value

2009
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables
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32,659

-

-

32,659

119

-

-

119
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Neither
past
due nor
impaired

Past due Past due
but not
but not
impaired - impaired less than more than
2 months 2 months

Carrying
value

2008
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables

45,222

-

-

45,222

284

85

178

547

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as the interest rate will affect the value of the financial assets of the
Commission.

Interest rate risk
The Commission is exposed to interest rate changes in respect of returns on its investments with financial institutions and
interest payable on finance leases contracted with outside parties.
The Commission's exposure to interest risk is managed by investing, on a short term basis, in current accounts and the
Corporation for Public Deposits.

Sensitivity Analysis
Increase/(decrease) in net surplus
for the year
Change in
Upward
Downward
Investments
change
change
2009
Cash and cash equivalents

1.00%

326

Finance lease

1.00%

-

Cash and cash equivalents

1.00%

452

Finance lease

1.00%

(326)
-

2008
(3)

(452)
3
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Carrying
amount
R’000

26.

Contractual
cash flow
Total cash
within 1
flow
year
R’000
R’000

Contractual
cash flow
between 1
and 5 years
R’000

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Liquidity risk
The Competition Commission’s risk to liquidity is a result
of the funds available to cover future commitments. Taking
into consideration the Competition Commission’s current
funding structures and availability of cash resources the
Commission regards this risk to be low provided National
Treasury approves the retention of the surplus.

Exposure to liquidity risk
The following table reflects the Commission’s exposure to
liquidity risk from financial liabilities:

2009
Other financial liabilities
Lease liabilities

14,474

14,474

14,474

-

23

23

23

-

15,507

15,507

15,507

-

281

281

258

23

2008
Other financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
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Financial instruments
The following table shows the classification of the
Commission’s principal instruments together with
their carrying value:

Financial instrument

Classification

Carrying Amount
2009

Carrying Amount
2008

Cash and cash equivalents

Loans and receivables

32,659

45,222

Receivables

Loans and receivables

119

547

Payables

Financial liabilities

14,474

15,507

Finance Leases

Financial liabilities
measured at amortised
cost

23

281

Net gains and losses on financial instruments
The following table presents the total net gains or
losses for each category of financial assets and
financial liabilities:

Loans and receivables

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Total

2009
Interest income
Finance charges
Total net gains recognised in the statement of
financial performance

4,526

-

-

(25)

4,526

(25)

4,526
(25)
4,501

2008
Interest income
Finance charges
Total net gains recognised in the statement of
financial performance

4,982

-

-

(54)

4,982

(54)

4,982
(54)
4,928
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27.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

27.1

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EARLY ADOPTED

The entity has chosen to early adopt the following standards and interpretations:

May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS’s: Amendments to IAS 36 (AC 128) Impairment of Assets
The impact of the amendment is set out in note Changes in Accounting Policy.

GRAP 9: Revenue from Exchange Transactions
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

GRAP 13: Leases
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

GRAP 14: Events after the Reporting Date
Two types of events can be identified:
• those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The impact of the standard is set out in note Changes in Accounting Policy.

GRAP 17: Property, Plant and Equipment
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

GRAP 19: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

GRAP 100: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

GRAP 102: Intangible Assets
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.
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IPSAS 21: Impairment of Non-Cash Generating Assets
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

IPSAS 20: Related Party Disclosure
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2009.
The entity has early adopted the standard for the first time in the 2009 annual financial statements.

27.2

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The entity has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the entity’s accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2009 or later periods:

GRAP 23: Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2010.
The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2010 annual financial statements.

GRAP 24: Presentation of Budget Information in the Financial Statements
The effective date of the standard is for years beginning on or after April 1, 2010.
The entity expects to adopt the standard for the first time in the 2010 annual financial statements.
The adoption of this standard is not expected to impact on the results of the entity, but may result in more disclosure than is
currently provided in the annual financial statements.
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Performance against target
Strategic priority 1: Increase staff morale and motivation
Morale impacts directly on the motivation and commitment of staff. Workload pressures, a climate of uncertainty and a need to improve
recognition of staff are factors adversely affecting staff morale.
Objectives

Targets

Compliance with labour and
related legislation

•

Effective staff recruitment and
retention

•
•

Revise HR policies to align with best practice

Achievements
•
•

Reduce staff turnover
Be proactive in sourcing suitable candidates

•
•
•
•
•

Managing employee performance •

Implementation of and training on the revised
performance management system (PMS)

•
•
•

Effective training & development

•

Develop a detailed training and development plan

•
•

Effective labour relations

•

In-house workshop on disciplinary policy and shop
steward responsibilities

•
•

Well managed HR personnel
administrative systems & payroll

•
•

Capture previously non-utilised fields on VIP payroll
system
Implement E-based leave management and reports

•
•

•
•
•

Review effectiveness of ICAS
Regular staff meetings
Create a visual organogram

•

•

Employee wellbeing

•
•

•
•
•
•
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Various HR policies have been revised and compiled
into an HR manual.
2 workshops held with staff.
Staff turnover declined by 10%.
35 potential candidates on database. 2 new
appointments were made.
Graduate trainee programme in place.
Recruitment drive held at universities.
Revised salary scales proposed to DTI and Treasury.
Revised PMS policy approved in January 2008 and
subsequently implemented.
All staff members were assessed in September 2008
and March 2009.
Bonuses were paid out on 22 April 2009.
Learning and Development Strategic framework was
approved on 30 April 2009.
3254 hours of external training and 418 hours of
internal training took place.
Workshop postponed until there is an active union.
1 disciplinary enquiry – initialised and finalised in 45
days.
2 grievance procedures finalised within 5 days.
Full usage of all VIP payroll fields.
Interactive leave management system (ESS)
implemented.
Leave reports distributed regularly.
Staff has access to pay slips and IRP5s.
After exploring several options, the Commission
decided to keep ICAS.
19 staff members used ICAS. 33 problems were
identified.
A health day was held.
9 staff meetings were held.
Visual organogram has been developed and placed
on the intranet.

Strategic priority 2: Align organisational structure and work processes to the strategy
Increasing work demands, required levels of sophistication and internal growth of the Commission necessitate better coordination and
integration within the Commission. This strategic priority has particular significance in creating effective collaborations in regulation, service
delivery and management.
Objectives

Targets

Ensure efficient evaluation of
Applications for exemption filed
under Section 10 of the Act

•
•

Ensure efficient and effective
investigations into complaints
related to prioritised cases

•

Fulfill the Commission’s mandate
with respect to merger regulation

All merger cases finalised within established service
standard periods and statutory deadlines:

Achievements

3-4 applications for exemption expected
Applications should be completed within 12 months
of receipt

•

All new cases screened within 20 days before
submission to Exco for decision

•

Target service standards:
•
phase 1 – 20 business days
•
phase 2 – 25 business days
•
phase 3 – 45 business days

3 new applications for exemption received; 6 carried
over from previous years.

Reason for variation: due to the complexity of these
cases, completion takes 24 months on average.

•
•
•

New cases screened within 1 week of receipt and
presented to Exco within 20 days.
131 new cases received this financial year.
458 transactions finalised.
Turn around time per category was:
•
phase 1 – 28 days
•
phase 2 – 47 days
•
phase 3 – 61 days

Reason for variation: though timelines remain within
statutory time frames, greater complexity and receipt
of timeous information make cases more difficult to
conclude.

Identify economic questions on
which cases hinge effectively,
and determine the level of
analysis required by the Policy
and Research division

•
•
•
•

Procedures documented and implemented
M&A case allocation memoranda scanned in P&R
Monthly progress meetings with E&E
Monthly P&R Case Management Committee
meetings

•

Conduct rigorous economic
analyses in complaint cases
through the Policy and Research
division

•

In-depth economic analyses are necessary for
referring and winning cases

•

Economic analyses conducted in 40 complex
complaint cases.

Faster turnaround on new
complaint cases from 2008
onwards

•

Cases being referred or resolved through consent
orders

•
•

11 cases recommended for referral to the Tribunal.
9 cases resolved through consent orders.

Conduct rigorous economic
analyses in merger cases
through the Policy and Research
division

•

In-depth economic analyses are necessary for
referring and winning cases

•

Economic analyses conducted for 69 complex merger
cases.

Utilise economic evidence
effectively to prosecute offenders
at hearings

•

Better coordination with legal team when preparing
and prosecuting cases
Economic arguments which are accepted at Tribunal
hearings

•

Economic evidence of 5 cases presented at hearings.

Include the inputs of the Policy
and Research division when
providing advisory opinions

•

Economic analysis and inputs, as required

•

Commented on compliance opinion. (SA Mango
loyalty rebates)

•

•
•

M&A case allocation memoranda submitted to
Commission meetings.
Monthly progress meetings held with E&E.
Monthly case management meetings held with
seniors in division.
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Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Obtain legal advice required
to make informed decisions
timeously from the Legal
Services Division

•

Well researched and substantiated advice and
opinions acceptable to Exco and the Commission

•

Legal advice provided in 14 complex cases.

The proper and effective
presentation of merger cases
before the Tribunal

•
•
•

Properly prepared and well-presented cases
Adherence to hearing time table
Commission recommendations accepted by the
Tribunal with comments

•
•

29 cases presented timeously.
No cases referred back from the Tribunal.

Prosecute firms that contravene
the Act expeditiously and
effectively

•

•
Case strategy meeting to be held with E&E within 1
•
week of Commission decision
Consent agreements to be concluded within 2 months
of the Commission’s decision
Consent agreements to be referred to the Tribunal
within 1 week of their conclusion
Where no consent agreement negotiations take
place, complaints are to be referred within 6 weeks of
the Commission’s decision
Properly drafted documents
Properly prepared and well-presented cases
Adherence to hearing timetable
Contested cases to be finalised within 1 year of their
referral
Decisions in the Commission’s favour and
commentary by the Tribunal

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Time frames adhered to in the majority of cases.
10 Consent Orders concluded within two months of
commencing negotiations (on average).

Strategic priority 3: Define and clarify the Commission’s approach and methodology
The Commission aims to define and clarify its approach and methodology in a manner that supports effective decision-making and resource
allocation to enable an increasingly coherent approach to proactively deal with market concentration and anti-competitive market structures
and practices in specific sectors. In addition, defining the Commission’s position in respect of the concept of public interest in competition
policy is critical to balancing competing economic and public policy interests.
Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Initiate cases in identified priority
sectors

•

4 initiations within 12 months

•

Commissioner initiated 23 complaints.

Conduct economic research
into specific sectors and topics
related to key competition
concerns, responsive to
requests, cases and sector
research

•

Four priority sectors: infrastructure/construction,
financial services, intermediate industrial products,
food & agro-processing. These are foreseen as multiyear projects
Produce research reports for identifying complaints
and specific advocacy actions

•

Infrastructure:
Research into bricks, steel, stadiums and cement
initiated.
Food:
Phase 2 reports under way in poultry, animal
feed, fats & oils. Phase 1 report in supermarkets
completed.
Finance:
Banking report released; evaluation under way.
Intermediate Industrial Products:
Polymers investigation is under way.
Telecomms:
Draft report on MNS & internet access completed.

•

•

•
•
•
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Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Identify industries with conditions
and performance consistent with
coordinated conduct

•

Review sector research with a view to identifying
coordinated conduct

•

Research reports on information exchange
completed.

Review merger thresholds

•

Thresholds reviewed and new recommended
thresholds published

•

New thresholds made effective 1 April 2009.

Monitor and evaluate compliance
with exemption conditions and
undertakings

•

Monitor compliance with conditions of exemption
conditions and address detected deviations from
conditions

•

One such application received – NHN exemption
application.

Monitor the implementation of
merger conditions

•

Monitoring implementation of conditions imposed by
the Commission and Tribunal on mergers to ensure
compliance with the imposed conditions

•

22 merger cases monitored.

Review outcomes following a
merger or complaint decision

•

Monitor pricing and other competitive outcomes in
markets where findings/consent orders are made,
especially with regard to coordination

•

Reviewed 3 problematic mergers.

Strategic priority 4: Establish the Commission as a center of information, knowledge and
expertise
The Commission’s success and credibility is closely associated with its ability to mobilise internal and external information and knowledge
resources. It is therefore critical to find innovative ways to manage the mobilisation and use of information, knowledge and expertise.
Objectives
Improve management, sharing
and use of knowledge and
precedent in merger cases

Targets
•
•

Information sharing system by March 2009
Record Management System by March 2009

Achievements
•
•
•
•

Create and maintain relations
with merger divisions of other
M&A competition authorities
around the world

•

Explain economic principles
of key issues and cases to
Commission staff

Sector site development on the SPS (intranet) under
way.
Improved consolidation of all case information on the
case management system.
Cases are accessible to all.
Regular meetings and training to share knowledge.

Participate in the ICN, OECD, UNCTAD and other
multilateral institutions on issues relating to mergers
Effective use of international precedents
Coordinate the investigation of international mergers
with other agencies

•

•

8 economic and policy briefs completed and
circulated

•

9 briefs completed and circulated.

Contribute to international forums •
– ICN and OECD

Presentation of papers – 3 (demand driven)

•
•
•
•

12 papers presented to the OECD.
Inputs made to 6 ICN working groups.
1 presentation at ICN conference.
1 presentation at ICN cartel workshop.

Establish the Commission as
leading centre of competition
economics

4 conference papers
2 published articles in peer-reviewed journals and
books

•
•

8 conference papers presented.
8 published articles in peer review journals.

•
•

•
•

•

Maintained participation on ICN merger working
group.
Submitted papers on petroleum and construction
industries to the OECD.
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Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Build capacity in policies and
research

•
•
•

Ongoing targeted internal P&R training
Continuous internal sharing of analyses
External training and conference attendance as and
when necessary

•
•
•

20 capacity building sessions facilitated.
12 training courses.
12 conferences attended and 7 papers presented at 4
of these conferences.

Build capacity in economic
analysis; understanding,
collecting and using information

•

P&R facilitated 8 economics training sessions on key
concepts and journal articles
4 training sessions for Commission by invited
economists

•
•

3 economic training sessions facilitated by P&R.
2 training sessions by invited economists.

Create internal awareness by
providing relevant information

•
•
•

12 seminars
10 workshops on analysis for major cases
South African Competition Economics Forum – two
major events, and ad hoc presentations
Annual SA Competition Law and Economics
Conference

•
•
•

6 seminar programmes facilitated.
4 workshops on analysis for major cases.
Annual SA Competition Law and Economics
Conference held on 6 June 2008.

Update systems and improve procedures and
practices
Training staff in knowledge management

Case management system upgrade project:
•
Functional requirements specification and test plan
completed and signed off. Technical requirements
specification and migration strategy completed and
signed off. Phase 2 completed, as scheduled, by
30-01-09. Development phase scheduled to begin in
March 2009.
•
All desired practices and user requirements included
in specifications for the system upgrade.
System improvements:
•
Site and content additions, changes and
enhancements to all areas of the SPS.
•
Data recording, managing and reporting on division
sites.
•
Central repository for key papers, cases, guidelines,
and course material created and populated.
•
Enhancements to some specific procedures and
practices like the Corporate Leniency Policy.
•
Multiple user system and usage issues addressed.
Training:
•
KM and SPS/CMS training now included as standard
in induction programme (6 sessions held).
•
1 formal training session for DAs held.

•

•

Effective knowledge
management

•

Provide specialised bibliographic
services

Fulfill requests for information from newspapers,
periodicals, journals, market research and industry data,
on-line publications and reference works including books,
reports

•

Reason for variation: Difficulty in finding external speakers
for training sessions. More internal capacity building
sessions were held instead.

•
•
•
•

Maintain integrated and highly
effective IT systems

•
•
•

Research and develop systems for the effective
•
utilisation of IT
Manage and monitor website functionality; Update the •
website regularly
•
Provide an efficient and effective support system
•
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49 new titles purchased.
Completed Lexis trial, depending on costs will
recommend Lexis to replace Westlaw.
Gave presentation to COMESA delegation (23
people).
Arranged access to antitrust law developments for
COMESA.
Research on clustering of exchange server
completed.
New server purchased and software installed;
presently on testing phase.
Website updated with twenty seven press releases
and quarterly publications.
Testing of the new website in progress.

Objectives
Upgrade software and
case management systems
and implement knowledge
management systems

Targets
•

To facilitate and provide tools for the proposed
knowledge management system:
•
research and identify KM System
•
system analysis and design
•
procure necessary hardware
•
implementation
•
training

Achievements
•

•

•
•
Provide efficient records
management

•
•

Accurately record, scan, index and file all records
Implement a document version control approach

•
•

Align existing information and
records management approach
with KMS

•

Capture, store, deploy and share information
according to KMS requirements

•

•

An upgrade of the existing Microsoft SharePoint
platform was identified as being most effective to
meet the Commission’s knowledge management
goals through its business processes.
A formal project for the design and development of
the upgraded platform, utilising specialist external
suppliers, was initiated in April 2008 and two phases
of the project have been completed: inception and
planning.
Activities for the development and implementation
phase have been initiated.
Required hardware, as identified through the project,
has been procured.
All case documents, 483 cases, captured and
scanned into the system within four hours of receiving
the case.
Standard document and presentation templates
including document version control developed and
implemented.
Work processes throughout the Commission have
been revisited and information management needs
identified. Changes to practices have been planned
and made to better align the capture, storage,
deployment and sharing of information with identified
needs and leading practice KM principles.
Continuous improvements have been made to the
Case Management System and the internal website
to support more effective knowledge management.

Strategic priority 5: Ensure effective advocacy and communication
Effective advocacy and communication is necessary to educate the public and create awareness among stakeholders on the role of the
Commission in promoting competition in the country, and to encourage participation and garner support. Through advocacy the Commission
may influence competition policy development, and ensure greater consistency and compliance with competition policy and principles.
Objectives
Encourage and facilitate
voluntary compliance with the
Act and assistance in cartel
investigations

Targets
•
•

Create awareness of the Corporate Leniency Policy
3-4 applications expected

Achievements
•
•
•
•

18 leniency applications received.
1 presentation made to the Council for the Built
Environment.
1 presentation made to the Financial Intelligence
Commission.
1 presentation made to the Milk Producers Organisation.

Explain of complaint investigation Provide relevant and informative content on investigation
and exemption evaluation
of complaints and evaluation of exemption applications
processes to a wider group of
processes
stakeholders

•

1 presentation made to the Department of Minerals and
Energy.

Monitor non-notified mergers

•

No new cases were identified but the Commission
followed up on 2 non-notified cases.

•
•

Number of transactions followed up
Number of transactions filed subsequently
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Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Review the impact of the
Commission

Annual review of the impact of the Commission on competitive
trade

•

Started process for 10 year review which will roll out
during the 10 year celebration conference taking place in
September 2009.

Influence policy and legislative
processes

•

•

Relationships and working teams established with:
•
Department of Transport
•
National Prosecuting Authority
•
South African Revenue Service
•
SAPS Commercial Crimes Unit
•
Institute of Directors.
Submission made to the national treasury on their
procurement policy.
Competition Amendment Bill presentation and review of
implications.
ICASA engagement on concurrent jurisdiction.
Options on the regulation of rail presented at the Rail
Reform Workshop.
Presentation to the Swaziland Competition Authority on
the role of the Policy & Research division.
Comments on the level of competition in various sectors
to introduce imperfect competition in Treasury CGE
model.

•
•
•
•

Create and maintain useful relationships with key
government department and parastatals to harmonise
relationships by means of:
•
meetings
•
working teams
•
advising the review and analysis of existing
legislation related to anti-competitive clauses
Review acts and policies in priority sector
Send written comments/submissions to relevant
regulators
Monitor developments in the Electronic
Communications Act

•
•
•
•
•
•

Increase awareness of the
Commission’s work

•
•
•
•
•

2 information campaigns and 3 exhibitions
Workshops for black business – 3 business workshops; 1
annual business consultative forum
3 workshops for the provincial agricultural unions
Provide training to educate and assist practitioners
to understand the Competition Act and its benefit – 9
presentations
Provide training to businesses about the Competition Act
in order for them to understand the risk associated with
non-compliance, 4 presentations

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

3 SME exhibitions held in Gauteng and North West
reaching 433 participants.
1 Consumer exhibition held in Limpopo reaching 92
consumers.
3 Business Breakfast workshops held with business in
Johannesburg, Cape Town and KwaZulu-Natal.
1 workshop held with Agri Eastern Cape.
2 practitioner workshops held in Cape Town and
Johannesburg.
1 presentation made to government officials of Southern
Sudan.
1 presentation made to the Pan African Parliament
reaching 22 African representatives.
2 presentations made to institutions of higher learning in
Varsity College (KwaZulu-Natal) and Rhodes University
(Eastern Cape) reaching 149 students and academics.
Interviewed by Radio Today, Ikwezi FM, Inkwenkwezi FM,
and Ukhozi FM.

Provide advisory opinions
& clarifications to increase
understanding of the Act

•

Issue 60 advisory opinions and ad hoc clarifications on
the interpretation and application of the Act

•
•

69 advisory opinions issued.
65 clarifications issues.

Increase the participation of
Trade Unions in Commissions
activities

•
•
•
•
•

Encourage whistle blowing
Identify unions affected
4 training session on how to file quality submissions
Hold a Trade Union Forum
Assist trade unions in participating in Commissions
activities

•

1 national trade union workshop held, attended by 50
delegates.
2 provincial workshops held, attended by 70 delegates.
2 Ditsela workshops held, attended by 150 delegates.
1 workshop held for NUMSA Gauteng, attended by 38
delegates.
Unions officially participated in 5 merger case
investigations in the Commission and 1 merger hearing at
the Tribunal.
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•
•
•
•

Objectives
Manage the relationship
between the Commission and
Stakeholders

Targets
•
•
•

Negotiate and conclude 2 memoranda of understanding
with other regulators
Hold meetings with stakeholders
Establish Joint Working Committees with stakeholders

Achievements
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Draft MOU with the National Prosecuting Authority
completed.
Joint Working Committee established between the
Commission and the NPA.
1 national bid-rigging workshop held for procurement
officials of national government departments.
1 Public Sector Consultative Forum held for senior
government officials.
1 national trade union workshop held.
3 business breakfast meetings held with business
executives in Johannesburg; Cape Town and KwaZuluNatal.
2 presentations made to asset managers through Vunani
Securities and Legae Securities.

Creating awareness and
providing information

•

Strategic media campaigns/responses

•
•

28 media releases were issued.
1 media briefing was held.

Coordinate and manage
communication publications

•
•
•
•

1800 annual reports
2500 newsletters (quarterly)
Other publications on ad hoc basis
1000 handbooks

•

Annual report produced, tabled in Parliament and
distributed to key stakeholders.
Newsletter produced and distributed to targeted
audiences. 2000 copies x 4 quarters.
Reprint of the following publications:
•
2000 Pocket Act
•
2000 Consumer Guide
•
2000 Pocket Guide
•
5000 investigators’ notebooks.
Designed and printed 5000 corporate folders.

•
•

•
Manage internal communication
actions

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

12 newsflashes
10 happy hours
1 award ceremony
Celebrate Women’s Day
Celebrate Heritage Day
Take part in a fun run
Kom Praat Saam discussion forums

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

12 newsflashes produced and circulated.
10 happy hours organised.
An awards ceremony held.
Woman’s Day organised and celebrated by all the women
in the Commission.
Heritage Day celebrations organised and enjoyed by all
staff members.
Organised for employees and their family members to
participate in the Discovery/702 Walk the Talk event.
17 Kom Praat Saam discussion forums held.

Promote and maintain corporate
identity & awareness

•
•

Profiling
Procurement of promotional items

•
•

The Commission placed a moratorium on advertorials.
Procured the following promotional items:
•
golf shirts for staff use as corporate wear
•
long sleeve t-shirts for branding staff members who
participated in the Discovery/702 Walk the Talk
•
key rings, carafes, diaries, and coffee mugs for staff
as welcome packs
•
branded pens for distribution at corporate events and
exhibitions
•
laser pointers/slide navigators for use by staff at
different presentations
•
6 roll-up banners for use at corporate events and
exhibition stands.

Effective and professional
management of Reception

•

Provide efficient, friendly and professional reception
services

•

Efficient, friendly and professional reception services
provided.

Manage public access to
Commission information

•

Control and monitor access to information

•

25 information requests dealt with.
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Strategic priority 6: Environment
The Commission recognises that fulfilling its obligations and addressing the identified strategic priorities requires a working environment that actively
supports its staff, and enables them to conduct the core functions both effectively and efficiently. As such, aligned to the strategic focus, activities are
undertaken to meet the objectives of maintaining a high quality environment, and effective business support.
Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Upgrade/Replace all old
hardware

•

Procure a network-attached storage system to enable
online backup mechanisms

•
•

All old desktops and laptops replaced.
Staff given notebooks instead of desktops to be more
productive.

Upgrade of SAN

•

Procure new storage area network system to meet
increasing data growth

•

New SAN system purchased and currently being
configured.

Improved remote access and
VPN connections across all
zones

•
•

Upgrade email server
Implement outlook voice access

•

Email server implemented with clustering of mail boxes to
prevent downtime.

Provide efficient disaster
recovery facilities

•
•

Review of systems and processes
Implement disk based backup for immediate recovery of
lost data

•

Disk based system is postponed to cater for the
knowledge management system and the subsequent data
growth.
Present tape based system is upgraded to meet the
requirements.

Improved budgeting mechanisms in line with PFMA
Zero based budgeting for financial year
Effective cash flow management mechanisms to ensure
access to funds

•

Effective financial management
and cost efficiencies

Effective procurement system

•
•
•

•
•

•

•
•

Well established database in full operation
•
Professional service database with reference to experts in
different fields
•
•

Continuous engagement with managers on budget
deviations.
Workshops held to introduce zero base budgeting which
will be fully effective 2009/10.
No problems encountered with access to funds.
IQual database currently being updated with details of
specialists such as economists and attorneys.
Policies in process of being reviewed for adoption in the
next financial year.
SCM workshops will be held with all managers and
seniors as well as staff involved in procurement.

Financial Reporting

•

Regular and accurate financial reports available from the
10th of the following month. GAAP, GRAP and PFMA in
line with best practice

•
•

Reports submitted timeously.
Finance Committee Meetings held to review expenditure
against budget.

Best practice finance policies

•

Revised best practice financial policies

•

Finance Policies currently under review. Gap analysis
done to ensure compliance with GRAP Standards.
Implemented in current year financials.

Manage fixed assets

•
•
•
•

Reconciled fixed assets
Donate dated IT equipment
Purchase new Commission vehicles
New fixed asset system

•
•

IT equipment (89 units) donated to 9 schools.
Adopted one school and set up a networked computer
center.
Assets reconciled on hardcat software.
3 new vehicles purchased – 1 pick-up and 2 Toyota
Corollas for field work – old vehicles were traded in.

•

Continuous management of the access control in the
building
Building inspections
Security escorts
Access control
Guarding services

•

Monitor and manage access
control

•
•
•
•
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•
•

•
•

No security threats experienced and no incidents
reported.
Well managed access control.
External security company contracted to manage access.

Objectives

Targets

Achievements

Provide effective security and
efficient facility management

•
•
•

Review security policies
Perform periodic security risk assessments
Implement and coordinate emergency response plan

•
•
•

Policies currently under review.
Ongoing security checks are conducted.
Staff induction and awareness conducted.

Compliance with Occupational
Health and Safety legislation
(OHS)

•
•
•
•

Implement OHS awareness program
OHS representative training
Investigate OHS incidents
Workshop staff on compensation injuries diseases policy
and procedures

•
•
•

Quarterly meetings held.
First Aid officials appointed.
Sick rooms established.

Well maintained facilities

•
•
•

Regularly assess building conditions
Address space requirements
Manage storage facilities

•

Space constraints a challenge. Effective move of
Corporate Services Division to Block E as temporary
measure.
Awaiting DTI response to space solutions on DTI campus.

•

Timeous delivery of mail and consignments to external
stakeholders. Internal mail distributed within 2hrs

•

Provide postal and courier
services between the
Commission and stakeholders
within required time frames

•

Distribution of mail and consignments done within
Commission and received by stakeholders within required
time frames.
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